IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY Digital Repository

Retrospective Theses and Dissertations

Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations

1987

Investigating the product life cycle concept: an application to capital recovery; evaluation within the telephone industry

Manoj P. Dandekar *Iowa State University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd Part of the Industrial Engineering Commons

Recommended Citation

Dandekar, Manoj P., "Investigating the product life cycle concept: an application to capital recovery; evaluation within the telephone industry " (1987). *Retrospective Theses and Dissertations*. 11674. https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd/11674

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations at Iowa State University Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Retrospective Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Iowa State University Digital Repository. For more information, please contact digirep@iastate.edu.



INFORMATION TO USERS

While the most advanced technology has been used to photograph and reproduce this manuscript, the quality of the reproduction is heavily dependent upon the quality of the material submitted. For example:

- Manuscript pages may have indistinct print. In such cases, the best available copy has been filmed.
- Manuscripts may not always be complete. In such cases, a note will indicate that it is not possible to obtain missing pages.
- Copyrighted material may have been removed from the manuscript. In such cases, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, and charts) are photographed by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps. Each oversize page is also filmed as one exposure and is available, for an additional charge, as a standard 35mm slide or as a 17"x 23" black and white photographic print.

Most photographs reproduce acceptably on positive microfilm or microfiche but lack the clarity on xerographic copies made from the microfilm. For an additional charge, 35mm slides of 6"x 9" black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations that cannot be reproduced satisfactorily by xerography. ...

•

Order Number 8721876

Investigating the product life cycle concept: An application to capital recovery; evaluation within the telephone industry

Dandekar, Manoj P., Ph.D.

Iowa State University, 1987

Copyright ©1987 by Dandekar, Manoj P. All rights reserved.



. . . .

PLEASE NOTE:

In all cases this material has been filmed in the best possible way from the available copy. Problems encountered with this document have been identified here with a check mark $\sqrt{}$.

- 1. Glossy photographs or pages _____
- 2. Colored illustrations, paper or print
- 3. Photographs with dark background _____
- 4. Illustrations are poor copy_____
- 5. Pages with black marks, not original copy _____
- 6. Print shows through as there is text on both sides of page_____
- 7. Indistinct, broken or small print on several pages
- 8. Print exceeds margin requirements
- 9. Tightly bound copy with print lost in spine _____
- 10. Computer printout pages with indistinct print _____
- 11. Page(s) ______ lacking when material received, and not available from school or author.
- 12. Page(s) ______ seem to be missing in numbering only as text follows.
- 13. Two pages numbered _____. Text follows.
- 14. Curling and wrinkled pages _____

15. Dissertation contains pages with print at a slant, filmed as received _____

16. Other_____

University Microfilms International

Investigating the product life cycle concept: An application to capital recovery; evaluation within the telephone industry

by

Manoj P. Dandekar

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

> Department: Industrial Engineering Major: Engineering Valuation

Approved:

Signature was redacted for privacy.

In Charge of Major Work

Signature was redacted for privacy.

Før the Major Department

Signature was redacted for privacy.

For the Graduate College

Iowa State University Ames, Iowa

19**8**7

Copyright (c) Manoj P. Dandekar, 1987. All rights reserved.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE

DEDICATION	v
I. INTRODUCTION	1 4 7
II. OBJECTIVES OF STUDY 1	0
III. LITERATURE REVIEW 1 A. General 1 B. Management Strategies 1 C. Diffusion and Adoption 2 D. Life Cycles in Capital Recovery 2	2 2 9 4 7
IV. MORTALITY ANALYSIS AND INVESTMENT LIFE CYCLE	D 0 2 8
 V. INVESTMENT LIFE CYCLE MODEL	5 5 7 2
VI. DEVELOPMENT OF LIFE CYCLE CURVE TYPES	1333
VII. APPLYING ILC TO CAPITAL RECOVERY	333)25
VIII. SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS	
IX. REFERENCES	ŀ
X. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	\$
XI. APPENDIX. SAMPLE RESULTS OF MORTALITY ANALYSIS OVER LIFE CYCLES)

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE	1.	Placement mortality analysis on XBAR account of company CB
TABLE	2.	Values of G(t) and corresponding integrals $H(t)$ 54
TABLE	3.	Coefficients for $G(t) = t^2 \dots \dots$
TABLE	4.	Coefficients for $G(t) = 1 + t^2$
TABLE	5.	Coefficients for type life cycle curves with t^2 66
TABLE	6.	Coefficients for type life cycles with $1 + t^2 \dots 69$
TABLE	7.	Line data for ESA account
TABLE	8.	Service from type ILC for $G(t) = t_2 \dots \dots$
TABLE	9.	Required accumulated depreciation
TABLE	10.	Mortality analysis A
TABLE	11.	Mortality analysis B
TABLE	12.	Mortality analysis C
TABLE	13.	Mortality analysis D
TABLE	14.	Mortality analysis E

.

· · ·

٠

.

.

PAGE

 $(1, \dots, n)$

LIST OF FIGURES

•

FIGURE 1. The full product	life cycle \ldots 14	4
FIGURE 2. Four stages of a	product life cycle 15	5
FIGURE 3. PLC shapes for di	ifferent measure quantities 16	5
FIGURE 4. PLC shapes for di	ifferent aggregates [36] 18	3
FIGURE 5. Different pattern	ns of PLC)
FIGURE 6. Stage identificat	ion based on percentage change 22	2
FIGURE 7. PLC with replacen	nents	1
FIGURE 8. Investment recover	ery along PLC	3
FIGURE 9. Determination of	average life by the turnover method 34	ł
FIGURE 10. Turnover method a	pproach over PLC 35	;
FIGURE 11. Turnover method a	pproach and PLC 37	1
	man the life endle	ł
FIGURE 12. Survivor curves o	ver the life cycle	,
FIGURE 12. Survivor curves o FIGURE 13. Placement mortalit experience	ty analysis with increasing	
FIGURE 12. Survivor curves o FIGURE 13. Placement mortalit experience FIGURE 14. Life cycle sectio	ty analysis with increasing ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	
<pre>FIGURE 12. Survivor curves o FIGURE 13. Placement mortalin</pre>	ty analysis with increasing $\dots \dots $	
<pre>FIGURE 12. Survivor curves o FIGURE 13. Placement mortalit experience FIGURE 14. Life cycle sectio FIGURE 15. Fitting for G(t) FIGURE 16. Fitting for G(t)</pre>	ty analysis with increasing 	,)
FIGURE 12. Survivor curves o FIGURE 13. Placement mortality experience FIGURE 14. Life cycle sectio FIGURE 15. Fitting for G(t) FIGURE 16. Fitting for G(t) FIGURE 17. Typical slope cur	ty analysis with increasing 	,))
FIGURE 12. Survivor curves of FIGURE 13. Placement mortality experience FIGURE 14. Life cycle section FIGURE 15. Fitting for G(t) FIGURE 16. Fitting for G(t) FIGURE 17. Typical slope cur FIGURE 18. Type life cycle r	ty analysis with increasing 1100000000000000000000000000000000000	• • •
 FIGURE 12. Survivor curves o FIGURE 13. Placement mortality experience FIGURE 14. Life cycle sectio FIGURE 15. Fitting for G(t) FIGURE 16. Fitting for G(t) FIGURE 17. Typical slope cur FIGURE 18. Type life cycle r FIGURE 19. Actuarial data for 	ty analysis with increasing 1100000000000000000000000000000000000	• • •
 FIGURE 12. Survivor curves of FIGURE 13. Placement mortality experience FIGURE 14. Life cycle section FIGURE 15. Fitting for G(t) FIGURE 16. Fitting for G(t) FIGURE 17. Typical slope cur FIGURE 18. Type life cycle r FIGURE 19. Actuarial data fo FIGURE 20. Actual and fitted 	ty analysis with increasing 	• • •
FIGURE 12. Survivor curves o FIGURE 13. Placement mortality experience FIGURE 14. Life cycle sectio FIGURE 15. Fitting for G(t) FIGURE 16. Fitting for G(t) FIGURE 17. Typical slope cur FIGURE 18. Type life cycle r FIGURE 19. Actuarial data fo FIGURE 20. Actual and fitted FIGURE 21. Fitting type life	ty analysis with increasing 	• • •
FIGURE 12. Survivor curves of FIGURE 13. Placement mortality experience FIGURE 14. Life cycle section FIGURE 15. Fitting for G(t) FIGURE 16. Fitting for G(t) FIGURE 17. Typical slope curves FIGURE 18. Type life cycle restricted FIGURE 19. Actuarial data for FIGURE 20. Actual and fitted FIGURE 21. Fitting type life FIGURE 22. Life cycle for example.	ty analysis with increasing 	• • •

PAGE

DEDICATION

Dedicated to

my parents

Malan and Phirozshah Dandekar

е. Х

and

the late

Dr. G. E. Lamp, Jr.

. .

I. INTRODUCTION

Contrary to the common belief "haste makes waste", depreciation practitioners, especially in the telephone industry in the 1980s, would rather make haste to recover capital invested in some categories of property than let it be wasted as unrecoverable capital in the rate base from where it will be finally removed as investment not in service. This attitude stems from the fact that the industry, and also generally the market, has had a very fast pace of technological developments recently. Coupled with competition, some from unforeseen quarters such as by-pass, the economic lives of many of its equipment investments have been dramatically reduced. This has caused considerable stress in the capital recovery process, rendering a huge reserve deficit, some of which may be nonrecoverable.

The philosophy for breaking even at a profitable level in manufacturing a product, or providing a service, is portrayed by the revenue requirement equation for the regulated industries:

RR = OE + T + D + ROR(RB)

where RR is the revenue requirement, OE is the operating expense less depreciation, T is the taxes, D is the depreciation, ROR is the rate of return on the rate base RB. As much as this philosophy is applicable in any industry, it is prominently used in the regulated industry due to the monopolistic status of the industry.

It should be noted that depreciation has been singled out as an individual item. This is because depreciation alone accounts for a large percentage of the revenue requirement and in some companies,

e.g., Illinois Bell Telephone Company, depreciation is the single largest cost. [Letter from T. L. Cox (V.P. Finance, IBT) to W. J. Tricarico (Secretary, FCC), Ref: 1984 represcription of depreciation rates for IBT, July 20, 1984.] The high depreciation expense arises from the industry's capital intensive nature.

Due to its role, a close watch is maintained by both the company as well as the regulating body on the estimation and accrual of the depreciation expense. As the capital costs have to be distributed over the service lives of the assets, proper estimation of service lives is of prime importance in depreciation allocation and, therefore, capital recovery. Life estimation, or the development of estimates of average life and mortality dispersion, is the second step for the computation of annual depreciation charges. The first step is life analysis, or the investigation of past experience [32].

Life analysis is a statistical study of the historical patterns of the retirements of assets, to discover whether any practical inferences with respect to life can be drawn. The conclusion from these studies may be reliable, based on certain conditions such as uniform and consistent relationship between retirements and age, that it is a homogeneous experience over the period of this relationship, and that no material changes occurred affecting the series of data [33]. In this step historical records are scrutinized for their accuracy, and appropriateness; and also proper statistical methods are chosen for the application.

Life estimation, the second step, evolves from the application of

knowledgeable judgement to the statistical observations from the earlier step. Information gathered by interviewing personnel from accounting, engineering, and operations provides depth to the adjustments necessary to the historical studies for estimating lives of existing plant.

The traditionally used models of life analysis are Iowa type curves, Gompertz-Makeham formulae, h-curves, simulated plant record, turnover methods, etc. Majority of these models derive service lives as a result of estimating the relationship of age to the forces of mortality. The forces of mortality are broadly categorized as:

a) physical condition (wear and tear from use)

b) functional inadequacy (obsolescence)

c) unrelated causes (acts of god, management policy) [31]. Of these causes for retirement of property, physical condition as a force of mortality is comparatively easier to quantify. Moreover, the models have been developed based on data of assets majority of which did not "die a natural death", but were replaced because of obsolescence and inadequacy [32]. However, the other two being unpredictable by nature, cannot be inferred or deduced from purely statistical analysis of experience; they have to be subjectively conglomerated into the estimation of service lives.

The subjective inclusion of these forces of mortality makes them susceptible to counter arguments. Thus in establishing an estimate of service life, statistical analysis of historical data is given more weight than subjective input. Coupled with the commonly objected

assumption that plant in use or being installed resembles plant which has been or is being retired, the traditional methods of life analysis seem to portray a weak argument for estimating shorter lives especially when, in the recent past, technical progress and competition are judged to be dominant forces of mortality. This has been shown later wherein based on limited experience of certain early placements the life indication from pure application of the models is quite high. At that time, being impossible to visualize the technical progress and competition in the coming years, estimation of service lives of those placements was more in tune with the models leading to low depreciation rates.

A. Age vs. Time

It is of common knowledge today that technological progress has been very rapid recently, especially in the electronics industry. Computing power of older generation main frame computers is now available in hand held calculators; communications are highly enhanced not only with higher voice channel capacities but also the availability of video and data base transmissions. Technological evolution is fed not only by the technologist but also by the entrepreneurs and competition. A prospective competitor can offer a product differentiated (e.g., price, quality, etc.) from the existing due to lower market entry cost facilitated by technical progress. Simultaneously, competition drives technology as each firm strives to maintain market share and profitability. Inflation also causes

consumers to seek more economical and efficient means of performing their functions making competitive offerings of new technologies more attractive.

Technological advancements thereby result in the replacement of older technologies with more efficient technologies. Although the process of replacement may not be instantaneous, the replacement rate is greatly increased. Plant and equipment are being discarded even before they are "worn out" because of technical obsolescence. Though well-controlled industries have been able to pace the introduction of improved equipment so that the return of embedded capital is more or less complete, the advances in technology, and stiffer competition make it less and less possible to continue this practice.

The concept of obsolescence by technological substitution is giving a new dimension to the process of capital recovery. The need to examine and identify individual forces of mortality, and objectively combine them for better life estimates has been conceptualized by some researchers [18]. It has been suggested that obsolescence and technological progess as a force of mortality be singled out, and studied separately [50].

Obsolescence is brought about by the invention, development, and availability of improved products or processes having same general characteristics, or totally innovative ideas. Age of an item is no longer a dominant consequence, the item can become obsolete overnight. Time, or rather the introduction of a competitive product in chronological time, is the decisive factor in the obsolescence of a

given product. Thus functional inadequacy of equipment in a particular operating environment is more due to time than due to its age.

Although it is difficult to represent absolute obsolescence of a particular item, time related procedures such as technological substitution/adoption can portray quite well the relative decrease in the popularity and use of that item. The decrease in use, or the reduction of the number of units in service for a product reflects its relative obsolescence with respect to certain economic and geographic environment.

Therefore, for certain types of property, traditional life analysis techniques which are developed on the basis of age, may need to be augmented with some time dependent procedures. In such cases of technically dependent property, time related procedures can provide additional information to give some objectivity for forecasting the future life characteristics.

It should be noted that whereas these time based functions can be used to present overall characteristics of service lives with respect to time, they lack the woven detail of traditional mortality analysis. The additional information provided by these time related procedures can give credibility to the "professional judgement" part of life estimation.

It is difficult to develop realistic forecasts of service lives using only age-dependent mortality analysis on property in which a good portion of the retirements are time related. Although methods of applying forces of mortality with weighting factors have been suggested

[18], the task of quantifying these forces is formidable. Time oriented models provide complementary and supportive information for the life estimation of property placed in the scenario of rapid technical advances.

B. A Case Study

Some of the most rapid technological advancements have occurred in the telecommunications industry in the recent past. Switching systems have evolved from manual switching through electro-mechanical to electronic systems. Even within the state-of-the-art electronic switching systems, yesterday's new analog systems are being replaced by digital systems. Another example is of old copper wire used for transmission of signals being displaced by the more versatile glass optic fiber.

Although these changes did not occur overnight, timely depreciation accrual adjustments were not made to fully recapture the investment because of the unexpected high rates of retirement. Coupled with reorganization and expanding competition, many telephone companies are faced with large depreciation reserve deficits created by these rapidly changing service lives. Just before divestiture, AT&T reported its estimated depreciation reserve deficit to be over \$25 billion and growing at a rate of \$2 billion a year [21b].

To maintain the competitive edge, some companies may have to forfeit some of this deficit. Their position would be like firms in post-industrial revolution Britain. Learning from the pioneering

efforts, other countries started with better machines while Britain had to compete using the obsolete prototypes. The steel industry has also faced a similar scenario where large amount of capital is yet to be recovered from outdated technology.

Among other reasons, some practitioners have held traditional life estimating techniques responsible for the reserve deficiency. This may be true based on the earlier discussion, where in spite of the versatility of the existing techniques shorter lives reflecting the future higher retirements due to technology and competition could not be convincingly estimated. Giving the benefit of doubt, it would be advisable to accept the augmentation of time related procedures to the traditional methods of life estimation. The time related procedures provide an umbrella beyond which the investments in a particular account may not survive, an envelop within which the traditional medels should be applied.

Of the several time related procedures, the Product Life Cycle (PLC) concept is the contender for discussion herein. Following the objectives of this study, the next chapter presents the PLC concept along with a discussion of the literature cited. Though not exhaustive, the review of literature is designed to give the reader an overview of the PLC concept, its origin, and its applications.

Chapter IV consists of a discussion of the relation of mortality analysis over the life cycle of an account. Observations and inferences from the analysis of real data are presented in this chapter.

In the fifth chapter a life cycle model is presented. The model is a "standardized" one in that it has been derived without reference to any specific technical context or time frame. Some underlying assumptions made in the development of the model are mentioned. The goodness of fit of the model is checked against some real data.

The sixth chapter deals with the development of type life cycle curves based on the generalized model. Generalized type curves have been identified, and a method of application is demonstrated.

In chapter seven the investment life cycle is applied to the process of capital recovery. Remaining life of the embedded plant can be found from the projected recovery life and the weighted average realized life. This leads to the derivation of the required accumulated depreciation of the present plant. The final chapter briefly summarizes the material presented and provides conceptual insights and suggestions for further developments.

II. OBJECTIVES OF STUDY

It was not until 1980 that the FCC through FCC docket 20188 [17] authorized the use of equal life group procedure, and allowed the application of the remaining life methods. Even though these concepts have been around since early forties [31,48], it took quite some time to "legalize" them. One can very well imagine the time it will take for the product life cycle concept to be accepted as a means for capital recovery.

The subject of this study is the application of the product life cycle concept to the process of capital recovery. The phobia of something new may be reduced by understanding how it is related to something known and understood. It is therefore necessary to explore the life cycle concept and try to fit known characteristics of life analysis within its framework. In this process a workable procedure marrying the age dependent mortality analysis and time related life cycle can evolve.

The specific objectives of this study are:

- To investigate the product life cycle concept and to find out how known characteristics of life analysis such as average life and mortality dispersion can be related to this entity.
- 2. To develop a mathematical model to represent investment life cycles and check its validity against real data.
- 3. To develop generalized type curves based on this model and if possible, present a working procedure to estimate capital

recovery life using the life cycle type curves.

4. To develop a methodology to find the remaining life and the required accumulated depreciation of embedded plant based on projected investment life cycle.

III. LITERATURE REVIEW

The idea of product life cycle can be thought to have stemmed from biological sciences. The basic observation that products like multicellular organism pass through definable stages of birth-growthmaturity-death over the span of their position in the market, led to the introduction of the Product Life Cycle (PLC) concept.

Although much has been said and written about life cycles in the marketing management literature since early fifties its application in the capital recovery area was suggested as recently as the early eighties. Based on applications, literature on product life cycles can be broadly categorized into product life cycle concepts for marketing, and product life cycle concepts for capital recovery. Majority of the contributions are in the areas of strategy management planning, and mathematical modelling of product diffusion to the consumers or market.

A. General

Little does a beautiful butterfly know that it has emerged only after it had passed through a series of ordered events, that is, an egg to moving around being a larva and undergoing metamorphosis in a cocoon. It then goes about its business when, finally, one day it passes away. Although the time span for each stage is not as closely defined as in the case of a butterfly for an individual, mankind also experiences a fixed sequence of the stages as one passes through conception, birth, infancy, adolescence, maturity, old age, and finally death. It has been observed that such stages, as experienced by living

organisms, are also exhibited by inanimate products, systems, and processes.

In likening the stages for mankind to a theoretical cycle for a product Wasson [47] has summed up the following (Fig. 1):

1) Conception of a performance package capable of fulfilling related set of consumer desires.

2) An incubation period of product development.

3) Introduction of product and market development.

4) A period of rapid growth.

5) Maturization - competitive turbulence.

6) Stability and saturation.

7) Decline and substitution.

8) Death and replacement.

Of the above eight stages only the last six stages represent the product during its public life, that is, when it is in the market. Most researchers consider the market phase of a product for life cycle analysis and adopt a four-stage cycle - introduction, growth, maturity, and decline (Fig. 2) The characteristics of the stages are as follows:

Introduction: Slow start, small production capacity, technical problems, customer reluctance.

Growth: Customer acceptance, large demand, increased competition.

Maturity: Substitution initiated, intense competition.

Decline: Sales drop, superior alternatives available.





The definition of life cycle can be generalized to be the status of an object (living or inanimate) at different points in time from its inception to expiration as it passes through identifiable stages. The status of the object can be defined with respect to some unit of measure (or measure quantity) such as annual sales volume, net profit, units in service, etc. Although a typical life cycle curve is represented graphically by a gradual build-up, leading to a mature peak, followed by decline, the configuration largely depends on the units defining the status of any given object. Thus the shape of the life cycle for the annual sales of a product is different from that for



FIGURE 2. Four stages of a product life cycle





FIGURE 3. PLC shapes for different measure quantities

The definition of the product is as important as the unit of measure of the object considered. Polli and Cook [36] find it meaningful to distinguish between product classes, product forms, and product brands. The three levels of product aggregates are defined as:

Product class: include all those objects that despite differences in shapes, sizes, and technical characteristics are essentially substitutes for the same needs. e.g., cigarettes, cigars, and pipes; mechanical, electro-mechanical, and electronic switching systems.

Product forms: include all those objects that, though not identical, are technically quite homogeneous. e.g., king-sized, regular, and menthol cigarettes; panel, step-by-step, and crossbar switching systems.

Product brand: include those objects that are completely specified technically, and are further identified trade marks, etc. e.g., Camels, Kool, etc., cigarettes; Western Electric, Northern Telecom switching systems.

For a given unit of measure the life cycles for the different aggregates for cigarettes is shown in the Fig. 4. It has been observed that product classes possess the longest life cycles, and while product forms demonstrate more typical life cycle configurations product brands usually exhibit erratic trends.

Furthermore, for any given unit of measure, each product has its unique life cycle. The shape of the life cycle also depends upon, among other factors, obsolescence of existing products [37], time and sales of a closely related product [6], changing market and economic conditions [15], managerial and government intervention [43]. Although ten different life cycle (Fig. 5) patterns have been identified over the years by researchers [38], it could as well be that some of these are a part of an overall general life cycle whose time spans are in decades or even centuries.

The confusion arising from all this has led some researchers to advise managers to use efficient information systems rather than to



* Number of cigarettes per 100 of constant dollar nondurable consumption.

FIGURE 4. PLC shapes for different aggregates [36]

rely on the life cycle notion [14]. Abell [1] defines a product as "the application of a distinct technology to the provision of a particular function for a specific consumer group." As product forms, the above definition so closely defines, bear the most likely approximation to the traditional life cycle, it is widely used in research.

In marketing parlance the product life cycle represents the pattern of projected or historical sales either in dollars or in units for a product extending from the time it is first placed in the market until it is removed [38].

B. Management Strategies

The main application suggested for the life cycle has been to plan marketing strategies as the product moves from stage to stage. Coupled with a "product-process matrix" [24], the product life cycle concept is a very versatile tool for corporate strategy planning and financial administration [21a]. Hofer [25] has even proposed that "the most fundamental variable in determining an appropriate strategy is the stage of the product life cycle."

Although the relationship between market capacity and market volume is a good indication of the stage, complementary analysis of the rate of change of the sales volume and the profit/loss curve provides a better measurement of the life cycle stages [41].

Polli and Cook [36] suggest the use of percent change in a product's real sales from year t to year t+1. Assuming the



FIGURE 5. Different patterns of PLC

distribution of these changes to be normal, boundaries can be assigned to identify the stages of the life cycle, as follows: values lesser than $-1/2 \sigma$ can be considered to represent the "decline" stage; values greater than $+1/2 \sigma$ represent "growth"; and values in the range of +/- $1/2 \sigma$ can be considered to be stable or represent the "maturity" stage (Fig. 6). Though a mathematical basis has been suggested, most researchers and practitioners use subjective demarcations such as changes in sales volume, and other trends to identify the different life cycle stages.

Introduction stage: Here sales volume is low but growing slowly. This is due to the inertia of market resistance of accepting a new idea. The introductory stage is usually characterized by a loss due to the high initial outlay for product and market development. Both sides, seller as well as buyer, are in the learning phase. Research and engineering personnel should locate and remedy defects if any. The objective here should be to minimize learning; develop awareness of the benefits, and present the product as a distinctive superior serious alternative.

Growth stage: Having survived the introductory phase, product acceptance is marked by increased sales having increasing growth rates. Capital intensity increases as mass production methods are gradually introduced. Manufacturing becomes the key function as research and engineering have played with the design long enough for competitors to try pre-emptying the market. Management should try to establish a strong brand market and set up an efficient distribution systems.



FIGURE 6. Stage identification based on percentage change

Instead of seeking ways of getting the customer to try the product, the management faces a more compelling task of getting them to prefer the brand [27]. This is a period of high and rising profits for manufacturer, distributor, and retailer.

Maturity stage: As the volume rises, the market becomes increasingly saturated. At this point even the competitive products become reliable. Improvements in the product tend to be small, and there is less to choose between competitors that product standardization sets in. It is necessary to hold brand preference by finer product differentiation, customer services, and promotional practices. To remain in the competition an updated product can be reintroduced [42]. Despite rising volume, needing more unskilled and semi-skilled labor, the profit margin begins to slip. Creative selling and pricing policies will carry the product through this stage, and may even open new venues for it. Although profits are shrinking, they are still enough to attract new competitors.

For appropriate pricing in this stage, the three aspects of maturity, developing almost simultaneously, should be considered: (a) technical maturity, indicated by decreasing rate of product improvement, standardization among brands, and stabilization of manufacturing processes; (b) market maturity, indicated by consumer acceptance, comparison of competitive brands by well informed customers with confidence that they perform equally satisfactory; and (c) competitive maturity, indicated by the stability of market shares and price structures [13].

Decline stage: As the product matures the cycle is characterized by a movement from labor-intensity to a relative capital-intensity [46]. The increased product maturity calls to reduce cost in each step of the engineering-manufacturing-distribution systems. Sales volume tends to decrease due to sophistication of customers to evaluate price and quality more effectively. The attractiveness of the new products and substitutes play an important role in the consumers' assessment of the product. Unless enthusiasm in the product is revived, the rate of change in sales will reduce to a point where costs may surpass returns. The strategy here is one of retreat; phase out the oid product, and seek new markets leading to new horizons.

Although no unique strategy exists for each stage, some actions are more effective than others depending on the stage of the life cycle [46]. Using trajectory and timing the product life cycle can be used as a framework for developing plans, and measuring performance [44].

C. Diffusion and Adoption

Although the value of the product life cycle model has been emphasized as a basis for product planning and control [40], it is presented mostly as a qualitative concept. Many writers do not try to quantify the product life cycle while endorsing its use as a framework for management analysis.

The characteristic life cycle curve is more or less bell shaped. Lack of awareness cause the sales to be low in the introduction stage. The growth stage initiated by consumer acceptance has sales increase at
an increasing rate. However, with the entry of competitors the growth rate is checked; and with the market becoming saturated the sales reach a plateau in the maturity stage. As consumers seek newer substitutes, for whatever reason, the sales decline when finally removal becomes imminent.

The basic curve form describing the above scenario may be represented by a simple parabola with the equation:

 $Y = a + bX + cX^2$

where Y is the measure quantity and X is the time axis. In his study of product life cycles for ethical drugs Cox [11] found a high percent of the products demonstrated a life cycle which could be represented by a fourth order polynomial. It has been suggested that the shape of such a life cycle curve improvised on the basis of Pearsonian distribution can be used as a predictive model [2].

Assuming that a life cycle consists of three parts: growth of sales in the initial period; decline in later stages; and an overlapping period influenced by the sales of comparable products, Brockhoff [6] proposes the following model:

 $Y = a + bX^2 + c/X + dR$

where a, b, c, d are parameters and R is is the sales of comparable products. The function being rather inconvenient, he suggests the use of a nonlinear form

 $\mathbf{Y} = \mathbf{a}\mathbf{X}^{\mathbf{b}}\mathbf{e}\mathbf{x}\mathbf{p}(-\mathbf{c}\mathbf{X}) + \mathbf{d}\mathbf{R}$

which is essentially a Gamma distribution.

The rationale for product life cycle concept finds its roots in

the theory of diffusion and adoption of innovations [19] as can be seen from the shape of the characteristic life cycle curve. The most noted empirical regularity of diffusion over time is that the graph approximates an S-form [7]. The S-shaped graph can be produced by a number of functions under different sets of assumptions describing the process. Although it is not the most plausible function [7,36], the logistic is the most often used function for generating such curves. This could be due to the ease of estimating its parameters, and that the parameters, treated as descriptive measures of the diffusion process, can be used as dependent variables for further analysis [22].

A modified version of the logistic by Bass [3] is a more accepted model for new products. Arguing that the traditional new product diffusion models have assumed a constant market potential, Mahajan et al. [29] have presented a dynamic model which relaxes this assumption. Various new product models have been developed to portray the growth and maturity phases of a new item but they are unable to depict the second half of the product life cycle.

Assuming the life cycle model to be a continuous real valued function of continuous time, Cooke and Edmondson [10] suggest the use of differential calculus to determine the boundaries of the various phases. They have developed a computer program that uses early data points to estimate the remainder of the life cycle.

As against the common notion for most models of new products, Harrell and Taylor [23] include replacement purchases in the life cycle volume. This product life cycle shown in Fig. 7 ignores the

substitution that may subsequently take place. In addition to repeat buying, intervals between purchases make significant improvement in the life cycle model [20].



FIGURE 7. PLC with replacements

D. Life Cycles in Capital Recovery

The closest that a nontechnical researcher comes to capital recovery is Neidell [34] where he differentiates between a profit curve and an investment recovery curve (Fig. 8). His definition of investment recovery which is equal to sales revenues less expenses is very much attuned to that of profit; and it is far from capital recovery as defined herein. The phrase "capital recovery" infers that proper adjustments in the financial statements are made to recognize the consumption of the capital over time.



FIGURE 8. Investment recovery along PLC

The idea of using life cycle concept for capital recovery was introduced to the Bell System in 1979. A delphi approach has been suggested wherein capital recovery personnel work with subject matter experts (SMEs). The SMEs first disaggregate the investment into groupings of like products or functions; the groupings should be able to readily lend themselves to analysis. Next, principal life cycle stages are identified for each grouping along a time line.

By placing the different time lines along a common time scale, the evolution of successive generations as well as relation between the generations of the groupings can be visualized. This also helps to confirm the approximate dates from the earlier step. Using this and technical knowledge of competition, technology, and economy life cycles can be forecasted to completion.

Based on this general scenario Ocker [35], and Clark [9] suggest that the life cycle of a future grouping may follow that of a present grouping. However, they disagree on the choice of the present grouping.

As the recovery of capital becomes more critical during the decline stage of the life cycle, it is suggested that this stage be further divided into three phases of selective retirements, moderate retirements, and rapid retirements. This presents a better picture to the capital recovery analysts for their study. Johnson [26] suggests the use of this information for calculating remaining life on the assumption that the future retirements are independent of age.

IV. MORTALITY ANALYSIS AND INVESTMENT LIFE CYCLE

The status of a product describes its life cycle at different points in time as it passes through identifiable stages over its life span. An unit of measure or life cycle measure quantity, be it by annual sales, or units in service, or annual investment, etc., defines the status of the product. For capital recovery and financial management purposes units in service, and annual investments and balances are more appropriate than annual sales and allied units (which are useful in marketing management) to be chosen as life cycle measure quantities.

A. Balances as Measure Quantity for Life Cycle

Uniform System of Accounts requires that property be maintained to reflect physical quantities and dollar original costs. Accounts are standardized for different industries by grouping property comprising of units having particular general character or use; each account is identified by a number. Examples in the telephone industry for telephone plant accounts are: land (211); buildings (212); central office equipment (221); station apparatus (231); pole lines (241). Some accounts may be further subdivided into subaccounts of property units very much similar. Central office equipment (C. O. E. 221) account is further divided into manual (17C); step-by-step (37C); crossbar (47C); radio (67C); electronic (77C).

Information systems can convert data available from the accounting department into formats for finance management purposes, and those

prescribed by regulatory bodies. These data of additions, retirements, adjustments, and balances are reported on monthly, quarterly, and annual basis. The information is usually in dollar amounts but can also be compiled in units in service. As balances are the resultant of the additions, retirements, and adjustments at the end of a reporting period, they are deemed to be the representative measure quantities for life cycle analysis purposes; be they in dollars or units in service. The balances represent the resultant investment in a particular property account.

Among these four entities: additions, retirements, adjustments, and balances, additions come close in the choice for the measure quantity describing the life cycle. While retirements occur at the end of a service rendered, adjustments may be termed sporadic depending on acquisitions, sales, or accounting reclassifications. Additions very much comply with the shape characteristics of a product life cycle: When the product or process is new, the management invests in it on an experimental basis. As it attains confidence, the bugs are removed, more investments are made. Annual additions represent replacement as well as expansion in the industry; this is in tune with the growth and maturity stages of a product life cycle. Demand saturation or the introduction of a new technique may then cause the management to revise its policy of investing in the existing technology and the declining stage sets in with no more additions taking place. Although nominal additions may be made to continue the serviceability, no major appropriations are encouraged.

As much as additions follow the characteristics of a product life cycle, they cannot be used as the units of the life cycle concept for life analysis purposes. Additions, annual appropriations and capital investment as they are, do not represent the service rendered from them. Service rendered is represented by the amount of the additions in a year continue to be in operational use in the following years until all those installations from that year are totally retired. Balances, usually in terms of end-of-the-year balances, on the other hand represent the survivors of the preceding years' additions; and therefore the service rendered till finally removed from operational service.

B. Relating Life Cycle to Turnover Method

End of the year balances are computed by adding investment made in that year to the balance at the end of the prior year less the retirements during the year; adjustments, that is transfers in or out of the account or account reclassifications, if any are also to be included. They are also calculated by summing up the survivors of all the vintages placed into service so far. Mathematically, end-of-theyear balance

$$B_i = B_{i-1} + A_i - R_i + - AD_i$$
 (1)

where A_i are the additions in the year i, R_i are the retirements during the year i, and AD_i are the adjustments made in the year i for the former computation method. In the latter case

$$B_i = \Sigma S_i \tag{2}$$

where S_i are the survivors of all the preceding years investments.

Neglecting adjustments and doing progressive substitution Eq. (1) can be converted to

 $B_{z} = \Sigma A - \Sigma R$

where ΣA is summation of all additions and ΣR is the summation of all retirements upto year z from the first year in the account under consideration. At this point it should be pointed out that the terms of the right hand side can used for calculating an estimate of average life of property. The method that uses these accumulated amounts is the turnover method.

In the turnover method, it is assumed that the average life is equal to the number of years that it would take to accumulate retirements equal in number to those units in service at any given date; it is the period of turnover [49]. When the accumulations of the additions and retirements are plotted according to the years, the horizontal distance between the to curves gives the turnover period which is equivalent to the average life (Fig. 9). Thus, whereas the horizontal distance reflects the average life, the vertical distance between the two curves represents the amount in service.

The use of turnover method is restricted to property in continuous service, and where the replacements similar potential life expectancy as the retirements. By the virtue of these conditions, the curves of the accumulated additions and retirements tend to follow a more or less parallel path. However, in the case of plant experiencing technological obsolescence, the accumulated additions curve stabilizes



FIGURE 9. Determination of average life by the turnover method

as explained earlier, and the accumulated retirements slowly add up to the total investments when the account is finally closed. In this case the two curves converge to the point of maximum life cycle and the total investments in that account (Fig. 10).



FIGURE 10. Turnover method approach over PLC

The area between the two curves then represents the total service obtained from the account. The vertical distance between them gives the balance or investment in service at different points in time. The balances start at a low amount, slowly increase to a maximum, and then decrease as obsolescence causes less additions to be made and more retirements to be experienced. The horizontal distance between the two curves gives the average life at various points in time. The distance is quite large in the beginning, but slowly decreases as the two curves start converging. The above discussion is presented in Fig. 11 for actual data.

This data set was used by Clark [9] to demonstrate how the low depreciation rates induced by the earlier longer lives had caused a deficit in the company's depreciation reserve. Although he did not comment on the short lives of the latter vintages, Clark proposed the need for an overall shorter life to allow for the complete recovery of capital without need for amortization.

When the balances are represented by the summation of the survivors as in Eq. (2), the thought of disaggregating the summations to orient the survivors to their original placement immediately follows. Survivor curves of the original vintages can be observed as a result of this orientation. The area under a survivor curve represents the service rendered by that placement, while the area under the life cycle curve represented by balances gives the total service obtained from that account. It can be deduced that the area under the life cycle curve is the sum total of the areas under the individual survivor curves of the different vintages (Fig. 12).

The area under a survivor curve is the product of the original additions in a vintage and the average service life (ASL). Thus,

area under a life cycle curve = Σ (A_i)(ASL_i) where A_i additions in vintage i have an ASL_i. Investment recovery life



FIGURE 11. Turnover method approach and PLC



FIGURE 12. Survivor curves over the life cycle

(IRL) is the area under a life cycle curve divided by total additions in that account. Therefore, from the above equation, IRL is the weighted average service life of all the vintages in an account over its life cycle.

C. Mortality Analyses over Life Cycles

The shortening of service lives analyzed from the turnover method can also be demonstrated by actuarial analysis of accounts over their life spans.

 Analyzing at the most recent time available in the subaccount, one can observe that the service life indicators for the earlier vintages are much higher than for the recent placements; there is a declining trend in the service life indicators as one move from the old to the new vintages (Table 1).

- The dispersion patterns indicated in the analyses shift from right modal for the older placements to left modal for newer property (Table 1).
- Following any earlier vintage through its life span, one can observe the service life indicators decrease as the experience increases (Fig. 13).

These observations were generalized from the results of actuarial analysis performed on different types of data. Some of the results are presented in the appendix. A computer program (IBFIT) available at Iowa State University through the Department of Industrial Engineering was used for the actuarial analyses of the accounts. Mortality analysis performed on individual vistages placed into the accounts provided information regarding their average lives and dispersion patterns. The computer runs were made for two scenarios. In the first case using the complete life cycle, placement analyses were performed at the most recent time in the cycle. In the second case each vintage was analyzed at different points in time as the experience of the vintage increased.

The IBFIT program generates average lives and dispersion patterns by comparing actual data to standard Iowa type survivor curves. The Iowa type survivor curves were derived empirically from the analyses of

Placement band	Account: Crossbar (1940-1983) Iowa type curve	ASL (years)
1940 - 44	R 2.5	42.3
1942 - 46	R 4	38.0
1945 - 49	R 4	31.7
1947 - 51	R 3	32.3
1950 - 5 4	R 3	29.9
1952 - 56	R 4	27.5
1955 - 59	R 4	25.4
1957 - 61	L 3	25.7
1960 - 64	. L 3	21.2
1962 - 66	L 3	19.4
1965 - 69	S 2	16.0
1967 - 71	S 1	14.2
1970 - 74	L 2	11.7
1972 - 76	L 2	10.6
1 975 - 7 9	S 0.5	8.6
1977 - 81	S O	7.3
1980 - 83	L 1	5.8

•

TABLE 1. Placement mortality analysis on XBAR account of company CB

.

•





.

actual retirement data. The empirical nature of these type curves precludes mathematical combination of survivor curves with life cycles based on the observations mentioned above. However, the substantial consistency evolving from the processes underlying each observation can be easily explained.

The first observation about the declining trend in the average life indicators from old to new vintages is very much in tune with the explanation discussed in the turnover methods. When the means of producing a service, or a process is new, retirements from the early investments are quite negligible in spite of teething problems. The growing investment trend enhanced by the lack of significant retirements. The initial investments in the account are more like the foundation blocks on which the account grows. This gives a longer life span to the early placements. Apart from wear and tear, when capacity inadequacy sets in, similar life characteristics may be passed on to the replacements. However, when faced with technical and functional inadequacies, the newer placements are exposed to the same retirement policies as are the older vintages. By the virtue of the fact that older investments have survived to the point where the whole account is exposed to closure, the older vintages exhibit a longer life than the new ones.

Right modal survivor curves take their classification because the age of peak retirements for these curves occur after the average service life. This also means that there are more units surviving in the period prior to the average life line. Older vintages display

right modal characteristics; the reasons being as mentioned earlier that these placements have insignificant retirements until suddenly exposed to functional and capacity inadequacies. The newer investments are already in the technological progress environment. Retirement policies cause higher retirements from these investments before they attain their average life, thereby giving a left modal characteristics to these retirements.

The third observation arises from the amount of data points available for analysis. Few retirements, especially for the early vintages, for a long period of time make it difficult to analyze the type of pattern they may follow. Without further subjective input and any knowledge of future conditions, the information from life analysis can only help to estimate long service lives. The increase of experience with more retirements gives a more definite shape to the analysis. Though at times the patterns may be misleading, by and large the average life has a more definite estimate as the experience increases. The higher number of data points leaves it less to subjective analysis and more to objective interpretations. Based on this observation, one can note the difficulty of justifying a shorter life for a vintage during its earlier stages, in spite of the vintage finally providing a smaller amount of service.

Going through these observations or empirical regularities, one cannot help noticing the inter-dependency they exhibit with one another. At the same time they are related to the experience of the account which defines its life cycle. The combination of these

observations could as well be one of the nonpolitical causes for the huge depreciation reserve deficit.

.

V. INVESTMENT LIFE CYCLE MODEL

A product life cycle usually gives the functional relationship between the sales of a product, the dependent variable, and time, the independent variable. Although time is the principal variable in explaining product life cycles, several factors within the firm and the market are of relevance to the life cycle, very few of which are measurable [6]. Dean [13] maintains the length of the life cycle and its stages is a function of technical change, rate of market acceptance, and ease of competitive entry. The theory of diffusion and adoption of innovation is the basis for the theoretical rationale behind the product life cycle concept [39].

A. The Diffusion Process and Model

The diffusion process is defined as the spread of innovations to the members of a social system [40]. The diffusion process is distinguished from the adoption process which refers to the sequence of stages through which the adoption unit progresses from first awareness to final acceptance. Thus, having accepted the new item, diffusion is the movement of the innovation from adopter to adopter.

To develop the time pattern model of the diffusion process, Mahajan and Schoeman [30] introduce the following notation:

f(t) = proportion of adopters at time t;

F(t) = cumulative proportion of adopters at time t.

At any time t

f(t) = dF(t)/dt.

The rate of diffusion at any time is assumed to be directly proportional to the proportion of potential adopters available at that time; that is, as the cumulative proportion of adopters approaches its maximum, say F*, the rate of diffusion decreases proportionately. Mathematically, this can be written as:

f(t) = dF(t)/dt is proportional to (F* - F(t)). Conceptually, this statement is representative of some engineering transfer equations, and population growth models.

The above statement requires a proportionality measure to relate the diffusion rate and the potential proportion of adopters. Introducing g(t) as the constant of proportionality, we have:

f(t) = dF(t)/dt = g(t)(F* - F(t)).

This is the rate equation for the diffusion process to be solved for F(t).

The "constant" of proportionality g(t) is a function of several parameters and it is more convenient to call it as the coefficient of diffusion. For a given innovation the value of g(t) depends on the use of effective channels, and social system attributes. The perceived payoff or reward, and the size of investment or commitment of resources are also catalytic, affecting g(t) [4]. As (F* - F(t)) represents the proportion which has not yet adopted, the product g(t)(F* - F(t)) give the expected proportion of adopters at time t. The coefficient of diffusion g(t) may be interpreted as the probability of an adoption at time t.

Although it has been suggested that g(t) can be represented as a

function of time, most researchers have worked with g(t) as a function of the number of previous adopters. Expressing g(t) as a function of F(t) such as

g(t) = a + bF(t)

where a and b are model parameters, we get the mixed-influence model dF(t)/dt = (a + bF(t))(F* - F(t)) [28].

The parameter a is defined as a coefficient of external influence. It is interpreted as representing external communications channels, mass media, government agencies, salespersons, etc. As such a can be considered to represent structured or formal channels of communications. The coefficient of internal influence b reflects the interaction of earlier adopters F(t) with potential adopters (F* -F(t)). In contrast to a, b represents unstructured, informal channels of communications. The presence of both parameters in the mixedinfluence model makes it the most general version of the model [28].

B. Assumptions and the Investment Life Cycle Model

Against this background of the diffusion model, the life cycle for an account or the investment life cycle was developed. As an account represents year by year status of the investment in a particular form of plant or equipment, it is convenient to call this an account or investment life cycle as opposed to product life cycle. As explained in the earlier chapter, B(t) the resultant end of the year balances were deemed to be the measure quantity for the life cycle. The life cycle model was developed on this criterion. While F(t) represents the cumulative proportion of adopters at time t, B(t) is the cumulative number of survivors of the prior vintages. As opposed to f(t) =dF(t)/dt which is the proportion of adopters at time t, dB(t)/dt is the rate of change of the balances. The rate of change of the balances may be positive or negative depending on whether the additions in that year are more or less than the retirements respectively.

Some underlying assumptions are to be recognized before the model is developed.

- It is decided either to invest in a particular type of plant or not to develop any account at all. Once this binary characteristic is overcome, B(t) although measured in discrete end of the year amounts is a continuous process and its derivative exists at all points.
- An account cannot be closed overnight initially. Once it is decided to open an account for a type of investment, it is very much into the growth stage.
- 3. There is an upper limit B* on the amount of investment resulting from the additions and retirements in an account. Thus, B(t) is unimodal; if the maximum amount continues for some time then the mode occurs at the midpoint of that continuity. Should there be a dip in the continuity the last occurrence decides the mode.
- 4. It is assumed that the type of plant represented by the account does not change over the life cycle. Minor modifications may take place but the basic principle

remains.

5. There is easy availability of information within and without the account as represented by the term B(t)(B* - B(t)). And lastly, all relevant information about the process has been "captured" by the model.

In the telephone industry, as in any industry, much thought goes into an investment. Once the decision to invest has been made, the additions and/or retirements to the account are continuous throughout the year; this is evident from the day to day work orders. The binary effect (assumption 1) is based on the fact that some of the companies decided against investing in a particular type of switching equipment. Unless faced with some calamity, it would be imprudent to cancel a system soon after it shows up in the books. For a given community there is a limit on the number of subscribers to a phone system. Although as the demand increases and the investment grows, several external and internal factors constrain the growth. As per the definition of an account, it contains items having similar functional characteristics. Information about recent developments within the investment itself and also about competitive investments is readily available; this influences the status of the account. This is the closest that reality complies with the assumptions.

The general configuration of a typical investment life cycle is similar to an inverted parabola (Fig. 14). Although a product life cycle is usually divided into four stages, the investment life cycle can be partitioned into two sections to simplify discussion: the

growth section and the decline section. The rate of growth, or the rate of change to generalize, is positive in the growth section, and negative in the decline section. Thus, if the peak occurs at unity on the abscissa, the sign of the rate of change depends on its location with respect to the peak; mathematically, it depends on (1 - t) where t is the proportional time unit.



FIGURE 14. Life cycle sections for model development

As the life cycle theory emerges from that of the diffusion process, the rate of change is proportional to the amount that can yet be accommodated within the system. If B* is the amount that a system can accept, (B* - B(t)) is the amount from the maximum value. The rate of change dB(t)/dt is therefore proportional to (B* - B(t)).

From above, we have the value of dB(t)/dt is related to the product (B* - B(t))(1 - t), where B(t) is the unit of measure of the life cycle or the resultant balance at time t. Thus, we have

dB(t)/dt is proportional to (B* - B(t))(1 - t).

If b(t) is the portion resultant investment, $b(t) = B(t)/B^*$. Then

db(t)/dt = (1/B*)(dB(t)/dt) or dB(t)/dt = (B*)(db(t)/dt).

Substituting this in the above proportionality, it becomes

(B*)(db(t)/dt) is proportional to (B* - B(t))(1 - t)

or

db(t)/dt is proportional to (1 - b(t))(1 - t).

If g(t) is used to represent a "constant" of proportionality, the above relation may be rewritten as

db(t)/dt = g(t)(1 - b(t))(1 - t).

It is hypothesized that the value of g(t) depends on the portion resultant investment and some function of time. This allows g(t) to be written as

g(t) = b(t)(G(t))

where G(t) is some function of time with respect to t. Substituting this in the earlier equation, we have

db(t)/dt = b(t)(1 - b(t))(1 - t)(G(t)) (3)

To retain parsimony, and maintain the credibility induced by the term (1 - t), G(t) is kept simple. If H(t) represents the integration of (1 - t)(G(t)), a solution of the above differential equation is

generalized as

 $\ln(b/(1 - b)) = H(t)$

where the functional notation on b has been dropped.

C. Illustration

In order to check the validity of this life cycle model, investment data from different subaccounts from various telephone companies were analyzed. The subaccounts, from the central office equipment account, represent such switching equipment as manual switches, panel, step-by-step, crossbar, and electronic types. If not complete, the life cycles for some of these subaccounts had at least peaked and had entered the decline stage. The data were available by dollar amounts, and by units, that is, number of lines serviced by these switching equipment; although not for the same accounts. The telephone companies represented in the data are some Bell Telephone companies, and Centel Telephone companies.

The critical element for the acceptance of the data is the amount of completion of the life cycle. The data should represent investment made for the provision of service; and not an end product, for then it would be representative from a marketing point of view. The provision of service may be for use either within the company, like the use of a type of machine for the manufacture of a product, or without the company such as providing telecommunications or means of travel. The basic nature of the data, that is, investment representation, precludes its collection from organizational, and government publications. These

publications usually provide data on industry, national, cr international levels. Individual companies need to be approached; even then the data may not be easily accessible, or broken down in a format from which can be made usable.

As explained earlier, the representative equation for the investment life cycle is:

db(t)/dt = b(t)(1 - b(t))(1 - t)(G(t)) (3)

For solving this equation, it can be rewritten as:

db(t)/(b(t)(1 - b(t)) = (1 - t)(G(t))dt.

Integrating, we have the left hand side equal to

ln(b/(1 - b)) dropping the functional notation on b. The solution to the right hand side, however, depends on the functional representation of G(t). This functional representation should be simple, it should not influence the sign induction in the original equation, and it should be able to portray the decline stage of the life cycle. Some simple functions of G(t) are presented in Table 2, along with the integration of (1 - t)((Gt)), H(t). The coefficients p, q, r, and s under the H(t) column are 1, 1/2, 1/3, and 1/4 respectively.

The solution to the differential Eq. (3) is

 $\ln(b/(1 - b)) = H(t) + c$ (4)

and it represents the linear form for the investment life cycle. The Statistical Analysis System (SAS) package of computer programs, version 5, was utilized to test the model, and develop regression estimates of the parameters using end of the year balances for several accounts.

G(t)	(1 - t) * G(t)	H(t)
t 1 + t t(1 + t) t ² 1 + t ²	$t - t^{2}$ $1 - t^{2}$ $t - t^{3}$ $t^{2} - t^{3}$ $1 - t + t^{2} - t^{3}$	$qt^2 - rt^3$ $pt - rt^3$ $qt^2 - st^4$ $rt^3 - st^4$ $pt - qt^2 + rt^3 - st^4$

TABLE 2. Values of G(t) and corresponding integrals H(t)

The General Linear Model (GLM) procedure was used twice in analyzing the data. It was first used for the multiple linear regression of the linear form of the investment life cycle. Here the coefficient estimates for the independent variables generated in the right hand side, H(t), were determined. It should be remembered that H(t) was regressed against ln(b/(1 - b)), and therefore, to check the fit against the original b, the GLM procedure was used the second time. Using the coefficient estimates generated in the earlier step, the linear expression was transformed to represent b in its original form. Using the GLM procedure as a simple linear regression the second time around, the model was regressed against the original data.

The model did not fit the data for all the versions of G(t) presented in Table 2. The data appear to be in good agreement with the model where it is represented by:

 $G(t) = t^2$ or $G(t) = (1 + t^2)$.

Tables 3 and 4 display the regression results. Table 3 gives the values of B^* , and T^* along with the coefficient estimates for the equation

 $\ln(b/(1 - b)) = a + bt^3 + ct^4$

for the corresponding data sets. Table 4 presents the coefficient estimates for the equation

 $\ln(b/(1 - b)) = a + bt + ct^2 + dt^3 + et^4.$

The $\mathbb{R}^{\pm 2}$ (coefficient of determination) values in both the cases for the second GLM procedure application are indicative of a good fit. However, all the coefficient estimates for $G(t) = t^2$ are statistically significant, even though the \mathbb{R}^2 values are not as high as those for $G(t) = (1 + t^2)$. One cannot reject the null hypothesis that some coefficients may be equal to zero in the later case. The signs of the coefficient estimates are not always true to the model. The inconsistency of the coefficient estimates developed from $G(t) = (1 + t^2)$ is the problem of near-confounding of effects where independent variables are highly related [5]. Figures 15 and 16 show the actual values of investment (dollars or lines in service) and the values by the regression equation for some of the subaccounts analyzed. For every subaccount studied the model regression equation describes the general trend of the time path of the life cycle very well. It should be noted that the investment life cycle is represented by

 $b = \exp(fx)/(1 + \exp(fx))$

where fx is the right hand side of Eq. (4).

			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Com- pany	Account	B*	T*	a
CF	SXS(\$)	37659978	30	-3.6109765
CI	SXS(\$)	35259438	23	-3.3721483
CM	SXS(\$)	8717943	35	-2.5777816
CN	SXS(\$)	30528322	32	-3.4647021
CV	SXS(\$)	33628151	33	-3.2852743
СВ	MAN(\$)	32910 9 1	69	-3.1665318
CB	PAN(\$)	16422090	40	-2.2980123
СВ	SXS(\$)	9289407	38	-3.6432797
СВ	XBA(\$)	80998843	37	-3.1876617
СВ	ESS(\$)	1175000000	22	-2.0107166
IB	PAN(\$)	38669168	30	9.7485651
IB	SXS(\$)	41918233	36	-7.6491489
IB	XBA(\$)	706470651	38	-3.1456162
ID	SXS(\$)	152961698	40	-3.4194211
ID	XBA(\$)	111261819	30	-4.4451768
MB	PAN(L)	288271	30	-0.1018122
MB	SXS(L)	878850	39	-2. 1671837
MB	XBA(L)	1614097	` 34	-2.6244366
MB	ESS(L)	10000000	23	-4.6411115
OB	MAN(\$)	46287038	61	-4.9401807
OB	PAN(\$)	29022823	43	-1.4973589
OB	SXS(\$)	167799460	40	-2.3068812
OB	XBA(\$)	299568909	39	-3.8031575
OB	ESS(\$)	90000000	27	-6.8870331
PB	PAN(L)	203	37	-1.6731708
PB	SXS(L)	2557	38	-1.28716468
PB	CDO(L)	290	43	-1.5495646
PB	XBI(L)	575	39	-2.36022104
PB	XBS(L)	4119	31	-3.7791483

. •

TABLE 3. Coefficients for $G(t) = t^2$

b	c	R ²	R* ²	С*
26.4303999	-13.5039523	.360064	.881073	0.65
14.8479248	-9.4437458	.30948	.70681	0.75
-2.0621816	16.1533510	.677175	.897465	0.65
7.9953754	2.9224823	.590854	.98221	0.7
17.9479286	-9.9870677	.466531	.971962	0.65
21.3908514	-16.9078539	.193561	.30316	0.7
35.1114591	-28.9875128	.384745	.890159	0.5
27.1847068	-20.3177262	.422456	.882321	0.65
26.6109106	-19.8859362	. 399264	.905346	0.6
32.2534599	-31.9227853	.93111	.973756	0.55
-8.7512118	3.9510637	.213522	.672314	0.9
60.0751349	-47.829599	.346992	.851127	0.65
24.2024378	-17.2774339	.488991	.941718	0.65
26.5186002	-20.1736479	.3223	.862557	0.65
30.16134854	-22.2127708	.422	.887059	0.65
15.6624923	-10.8018589	.540721	.920629	0.45
26.7449068	-21.0606872	.348144	.889058	0.55
33.3854937	-26.5880992	.51258	.940213	0.55
53.0443311	-61.5091056	.907855	.885142	0.65
22.7771989	-16.3443141	.276314	.592459	0.75
32.2825067	-28.2150898	.178263	.850129	0.45
26.522949	-20.4660265	.316454	.925253	0.55
26.4551092	-18.9274666	.435808	.945120	0.65
107.2315381	-121.5148765	.715415	.756887	0.75
28.5455005	-22.3364647	.77621	.984634	0.5
20.5788298	-15.4836433	.674611	.872992	0.5
21.6634769	-17.2859005	.645454	.950924	0.55
35.70088407	-29.3472686	.653258	.901113	0.5
27.4770034	-20.248381	.677407	.949204	0.65

INDLE 3.	. continued			
Com- pany	Account	в*	T*	a
PB	ESS(L)	9120	24	-4.5484816
SC	SXS(L)	1693316	36	-4.6143529
SC	CDO(L)	1549230	20	4.3733877
SC	XBA(L)	2171285	39	-6.6138563
SC	ESS(L)	5000000	23	-5.5403434
SN	MAN(\$)	9317244	60	-4.5162936
SN	SXS(L)	188622230	40	-2.9948412
SN	XBA(L)	98645970	26	-3.6568642
SN	ESS(L)	60000000	24	-4.1975977
SW	PAN(L)	277	37	-0.7732287
SW	SXS(L)	3725	52	-3.7016622
SW	XBI(L)	348	31	-2.9554559
SW	XBS(L)	2192	25	-3.1338865
SW	ESS(L)	10000	22	-4.1324072
WB	PAN(L)	58514	40	-3.0990113
WB	SXS(L)	450144	39	-3.0206319
WB	XBA(L)	527287	33	-2.374709
WB	ESS(L)	1500000	22	-3.2333596
Р	B707(#)	117	11	0.1190589

•

TABLE	3.	Continued
-------	----	-----------

Ъ	c	R ²	R* ²	C*
27.9100854	-17.7929589	.895501	.987267	0.65
33.4743748	-24.3386043	.414932	.779398	0.65
-3.0707537	1.21024378	.101001	.004317	0.8
41.0093634	-30.9708337	.370102	.917016	0.7
82.6454377	-89.7005277	.92482	.954584	0.55
26.6179825	-18.7105573	.389313	.779252	0.7
26.24453108	-20.1717624	.303304	.87694	0.6
36.4891637	-27.8526264	.435055	.957544	0.55
63.00861688	-69.5328867	.953868	.973306	0.6
22.5782531	-18.3781344	.683134	.958564	0.45
26.0090091	-19.5717958	.709548	.941025	0.65
33.5049444	-26.4356941	.781577	.931129	0.55
23.0521405	-16.317133	.639812	.896724	0.3
64.6862995	-69.3196598	.915854	.959036	0.55
43.2684153	-36.1818077	.325203	.480871	0.5
27.8586944	-21.584136	.410634	.853376	.06
33.3414864	-27.1471599	.472382	.906198	0.55
43.5129575	-51.7516395	.935814	.979670	0.65
1.7722751	-0.931637	.279695	.613664	0.65

~

.

Com- pany	Account	а	Ъ	c
CF	SXS(\$)	-10.0358883	81.14163004	-274.01080
CI	SXS(\$)	-5.7944874	-3.62451998	45.20307
CM	SXS(\$)	-1.9544796	-47.2754353	278.85152
CN	SXS(\$)	-5.4862725	9.6446049	8.95948
CV	SXS(\$)	-8.2710673	59.4262142	-202.81981
CB	MAN(\$)	242.9061863	-1064.998240	1682.66469
CB	PAN(\$)	-25.6712708	183.4 8 46544	-466.39531
CB	SXS(\$)	-10.8163157	65.7593503	-181.08463
CB	XBA(\$)	-6.8392146	54.0761608	-190.69865
CB	ESS(\$)	-4.0127005	26.0362487	-94.30049
IB	PAN(\$)	-1718.9629659	5685.1345959	-6913.77522
IB	SXS(\$)	9.0683961	67.1356065	-381.99433
IB	XBA(\$)	-5.8876112	44.0074942	-163.43640
ID	SXS(\$)	-10.5572322	78.9136275	-248.39414
ID	XBA(\$)	-7.8813068	49.3495211	-173.42609
MB	PAN(L)	-47.9919142	200.7850815	-302.97496
MB	SXS(L)	-3.9513193	26.8904444	-91.17306
MB	XBA(L)	-5.5456722	47.3790777	-175.31404
MB	ESS(L)	-6.1095079	10.5349913	1.82613
OB	MAN(\$)	-138.3309252	459.5153302	-571.67688
OB	PAN(\$)	-80.2503384	563.7331884	-1388.24408
OB	SXS(\$)	-8.5218388	70.4762751	-224.85397
OB	XBA(\$)	-7.2882334	50.9562565	-183.19424
OB	ESS(\$)	-15.7146888	99.5661094	-292.63363
PB	PAN(L)	11.9712328	-73.0870946	137.27695
PB	SXS(L)	3.0957314	-41.9400933	112.78824
PB	CDO(L)	-3.1635288	25.5604713	-93.44775
PB	XBI(L)	-7.0114332	53.6634004	-163.42437
PB	XBS(L)	-7.9099232	34.2172658	-76.76012

•

TABLE 4. Coefficients for $G(t) = 1 + t^2$

.
d	e	R ²	R* ²	С*
360.1010798	-152.353225	.432035	.930311	0.7
-44.17095843	11.1967795	.415142	.813638	0.55
-491.5211129	278.6691351	.786548	.907167	0.5
-44.4440036	39.1926142	.612884	.99149	0.65
276.25200631	-119.44708019	.48485	.973698	0.7
-1131.4888004	272.7545273	.308651	.49687	0.6
503.8752353	-190.492963	.464841	.916008	0.35
217.2337517	-87.3858304	.452148	.922075	0.65
263.6425702	-115.5908966	.452013	.917717	0.2
161.40	-91.2820152	.99778	.99779	0.5
3677.5228406	-723.4969159	.285177	.911351	0.85
548.8740167	-237.4039976	.426104	.866177	0.55
235.8389408	-105.8475256	.529283	.933366	0.65
315.4352849	-131.2694969	.379157	.882069	0.7
246.9210932	-110.5769989	.450673	.907552	0.7
211.0109874	-56.3622795	.545195	.925886	0.5
134.6563293	-62.4348081	.369486	.843955	0.25
258.2890908	-119.5824134	.569808	.931879	0.25
-18.5331712	12.0469207	.997635	.998 345	0.65
326.7306858	-74.4261341	. 289697	.650133	0.8
1438.5803531	-528.7805583	.369525	.778918	0.35
290.1108169	-122.3289216	.370670	.861962	0.3
261.74190188	-117.7549443	.468523	.946126	0.65
403.2300923	-202.5370247	.983659	.990469	0.6
-79.9998885	8.4590689	.782803	.9863	0.3
-91.0192876	20.95585203	.716946	.913402	0.1
139.6952692	-65.2053813	.700614	.951588	0.2
220.5754696	-99.3320695	.733301	.965665	0.3
92.7909323	-39.1501056	.737883	.968672	0.55

TABLE	4.	Continu	ued
-------	----	---------	-----

Com- pany	Account	a	b	С
PB	ESS(L)	-7.8149101	15.5637876	16.2297777
SC	SXS(L)	237.4831705	-1583.5581479	2658.7945693
SC	CDO(L)	338.2961998	-806.6916061	-703.7438885
SC	XBA(L)	-131.69101759	744.9230543	-158.9755971
SC	ESS(L)	-8.5178845	26.2234172	-43.2176023
SN	MAN(\$)	713.2504432	-2966.075322	4489.6287211
SN	SXS(L)	-8.9926333	68.4699794	-219.2133774
SN	XBA(L)	-11.7963595	105.0104644	-349.9676067
SN	ESS(L)	-5.5023386	8.9252455	4.44084667
SW	PAN(L)	-2.6947837	19.2675648	51.7198969
SW	SXS(L)	-6.1989597	32.6642203	-104.3609895
SW	XBI(L)	-5.6813737	33.3471009	-103.5437225
SW	XBS(L)	-5.4333809	16.5894973	-24.2882625
SW	ESS(L)	-6.4129315	16.7842086	-12.0939298
WB	PAN(L)	-196.3610153	1167.3072888	-2534.547682
WB	SXS(L)	-5.5879214	22.5384539	-61.4394859
WB	XBA(L)	-7.8204883	65.4959034	-208.8772629
WB	ESS(L)	-5.4005046	22.5465949	-58.3381587
P	B707(#)	-1.0119174	-10.0604712	34.9006413

đ	e	R ²	R* ²	C*
-63.95803041	46.9206617	.986392	.991730	0.6
-1886.8002616	480.0471844	.541221	.857113	0.55
-267.1048967	37.3158347	.331057	.277592	0.9
1471.9937855	-495.5034656	.438252	.922983	0.75
62.5996014	-38.4987068	.997968	.9988	0.55
-2924.2881599	692.5832332	.541609	.932737	0.7
283.7302054	-119.8014514	.353249	.867871	0.65
461.3535315	-198.1835071	.531064	.923784	0.65
-4.8931115	-2.5698719	.995450	.997105	0.55
74.7190667	-36.1081723	.712779	.981518	0.25
145.1736943	-64.0993133	.752445	.931188	0.65
149.9699951	-69.5877394	.816092	.941076	0.5
31.5672851	-15.2477066	.724216	.944069	0.5
12.7100229	-11.8733671	.996756	.998547	0.5
2391.0479744	-821.615871	.499502	.793641	0.5
92.3570523	-44.4370731	.414546	.838514	0.55
275.5251156	-119.8387569	.563534	.917372	0.3
93.5381587	-52.891233	.998092	.997751	0.5
-26.9072848	5.9199983	.629497	.88618	0.5

.

.

,











VI. DEVELOPMENT OF LIFE CYCLE CURVE TYPES

The application of the product life cycle concept to capital recovery was introduced as recently as 1979 [35]. As in life cycle costing, the basic philosophy herein is that capital should be recovered by the time the plant is fully retired. However, as explained earlier, the service life indicators are quite high in the initial stages of the life cycle and placement as well. The low depreciation rates induced by the high life indication cause insufficient accumulation of depreciation when the high retirement rates set in. Correcting the depreciation rates on a whole life basis to accommodate the later high retirement pattern does not necessarily result in total recovery of capital unless amortization of the earlier deficit is allowed. Amortization, although allowing for complete recovery of investment, raises the question about proper allocation of the cost of providing service duly to the customers.

The recent acceptance of using remaining life procedure is a more appropriate alternative solution to this problem. Using classical retirement ratio theory, Johnson [26] has proposed the use of forecasts of additions and retirements from marketing and construction divisions of a company to compute retirement ratios for a given account. Assuming future retirements to be independent of age, the remaining life for the embedded plant can be determined by applying these retirement ratios.

Mathematically, this assumption causes the future retirements to be prorated with respect to the balances of the embedded plant and the

future additions. Retirement ratio is the ratio of the amount of retirements during a period to the amount exposed for retirement at the beginning of the period. Thus

 $RR_i = R_i/B_{(i-1)}.$

If $EP_{(i - 1)}$ is the amount of embedded plant in the previous year's balance, then according to Johnson the amount of retirements from the embedded plant is:

$$R(EP) = RR_i * EP(i - 1).$$

Now as

$$R(EP) = \{R_i/B(i-1)\} * EP(i-1),$$

therefore

 $R(EP) = R_i * \{ EP_{(i-1)}/B_i \},$

that is, the retirements are prorated in the ratio of survivors of embedded plant to total balances.

The reliability of this method depends on the confidence placed on the forecasts and their duration. It gives dependable results as long as the forecasts are for a short period. Implicitly, this means that the account should be very much in the decline stage of its life cycle, and the forecasts are for the remaining few years of the life span. In such a case one may also rely on the prior information available in much detail to compute the remaining lives based on traditional life analysis techniques.

Along with a similar approach using retirement ratios, Ocker [35] presents the idea of an overall life for capital recovery. In his paper he has argued that by comparing the historical life cycle of one technology to the life cycle of an existing technology and assuming a similar growth rate, life span, and retirement pattern, it is possible to estimate an average life for the new. Although this philosophy that plant being installed or in general use bears resemblance to plant which has been or is being retired is similar to that in traditional life analysis and estimation techniques, and it is alike that presented by Clark [9], the choice of the comparable historical life cycle is not singular; Clark mentions a different technology for the basis. This disagreement may arise due to the different backgrounds of the authors. But to a third party, this is an area of concern: which historical technology should be taken as the unit of measure? An answer to this question is the development of type life cycle curves on a generalized basis.

A. Generalized Life Cycles

The model for the life cycle, presented in the earlier chapter, represents the historical, and existing technologies very well. Without pretension to the background of the technology, a generalized version of this model can be well applied to the life cycle of an existing technology. The model itself has been developed on a normalized basis for time, and unit of measure. Thus the curves are easily comparable irrespective of the number of years to reach the maximum amount as well as the maximum amount itself.

As with product life cycles, the life cycles generated by the investments produced unique patterns, in spite of the investments being

made in the same technology. The grouping of the curves on a technology basis was dropped. Most of the data sets studied did not peak in the same time interval; a few groups could be formed, but none of these groups contained any more than three data sets. The time interval required for an account to peak was found not to be useful for the grouping of the curves, neither was the peaking amount for the same reasons.

The model was developed from the differential equation representing the slope of the life cycle:

db(t)/dt = b(t)(1 - b(t))(1 - t)(G(t)) (3)

The configuration of this equation was studied. Looking at a typical slope curve (Fig. 17), it can be seen that the rate of change of balances increases, and then decreases during the growth stage of the life cycle. A similar observation can be made for the decline part of the life cycle, however, in the negative quadrant. The occurrence of the positive peak ranged from about 0.2 to about 0.9 times the time interval required for the life cycle to reach its maximum. As the growth stage has a longer span than the decline stage (three times longer [35]), as the growth stage is more descriptive of the configuration of the life cycle the differential equation for the growth stage was opted for further investigation.

Recall from the earlier chapter that two values of the time function G(t) give good fits of the model to the data; the R^2 values for G(t) = (1 + t²) are a bit higher than those for G(t) = t². However, as the number of interrelated terms increases the problem of



FIGURE 17. Typical slope curve for life cycle

near-confounding of effects especially in the first case [5]. This is evident as one cannot reject the null hypothesis that some of the coefficient estimates of the former case are equal to zero based on the regression analysis. Moreover, as the near-confounding of effects places the equation in a plane that tends to minimize the sum of the square errors, the coefficient estimates have large standard errors, and their values are widely dispersed. Accordingly $G(t) = t^2$ was deemed to be a better choice for generalizing the curves.

Using the coefficient estimates of all the data sets analyzed, the differential equation (I) for each one was traced. At constant

intervals of t = 0.05, the function was evaluated between t = 0, and t = 1. The peaks occurred at distinct points along the time scale. The occurrence of the peak change rate for each account analyzed is noted under column C* in Tables 3 and 4. Grouping the curves by the point of the occurrence of the peak resulted in the formation of seven groups. Some groups only contained a few curves and others contained as many as eight. The type curve for each group was obtained by averaging the coefficient estimates of the curves in the group. These parameter coefficients are presented in Table 5. The type life cycle rate curves from these coefficients are shown in Fig. 18.

Curve	a	ь	c
H	-0.7907999	23.5077507	-19.1316944
С	-2.1435161	32.6410176	-26.4673394
К	-2.5478708	30.2360601	-23.8337421
0	-3.0871878	26.2291435	-19.7298171
J	-4.1589543	29.7254391	-21.6464681
T	-4.4403459	24.2533932	-15.9166907
D	-4.1561645	18.8125619	-12.8940299
	H C K O J T D	H -0.7907999 C -2.1435161 K -2.5478708 O -3.0871878 J -4.1589543 T -4.4403459 D -4.1561645	H -0.7907999 23.5077507 C -2.1435161 32.6410176 K -2.5478708 30.2360601 O -3.0871878 26.2291435 J -4.1589543 29.7254391 T -4.4403459 24.2533932 D -4.1561645 18.8125619

TABLE 5. Coefficients for type life cycle curves with t^2

Although the multicollinearity engendered by $G(t) = (1 + t^2)$ causes the problem of near-confounding of effects, one cannot overlook the fact that the model from this expression has a comparatively better





ı.

fit. Using arguments similar to the case of $G(t) = t^2$, one can develop coefficient estimates for type life cycle curves for $G(t) = (1 + t^2)$. These are presented in Table 6.

The significance of these type curves is that they cover a certain range of physical property affected by technology and competition. However, the original equation can hold good for any other type of investment life cycle where the substitution of the investment occurs due to technical, and economical efficiencies. For example, Fig. 19 gives the actuarial data for the Boeing 707 (B707) account of an international airlines from United States. Using $G(t) = (1 + t^2)$, the equation fits the data quite well ($R^2 = 0.9$), as shown in Fig. 20. It should be pointed out that the shape of the life cycle in this case is not totally influenced by technology and competition as in the earlier case of the telephone industry.

What we have here is that a certain classification of curves being typified. This particular classification is based on certain technological advancements which may not be common to all. The classification is therefore not final nor conclusive; it is possible to extend the investment life cycle classifications by analyzing data facing different managerial, economic, and technical conditions.

B. Application

The generalized life cycle type curves have been derived without reference to any specific technical background of central office equipment, time scale, or quantifying units. By selecting a life cycle

C*	Curve	а	b	C	d	e
0.25	н	-4.4389037	34.6355437	-120.4706784	174.2004652	-79.7845343
0.3	С	-19.5506894	143.9610545	-385.7531349	441.4445168	-175.3857001
0.5	к	-5.0424851	25.3242823	-74.0441603	114.3146826	-58.7058204
0.55	0	-6.7489223	28.3778599	-69.0998049	92.5739923	-41.7935894
0.65	J	-8.6989536	54.0681634	-164.7879179	216.1694381	-93.8188958
0.7	Т	-9.1630796	67.2077482	-224.6807575	299.6773661	-128.4117003

TABLE 6. Coefficients of type life cycle curves for $g(t) = 1 + t^2$

Company P: Account for

Year of Placemen (vintage	Installed during t year)								UPPE LOWE	R FIG R FIG	URES: URES:	In Ret	servi ired	ice a duri
<u>.</u>		'59	'60	'61	'62	'63	'64	'65	'66	<u>'67</u>	'68	'69	'70	' 7]
1959	15	15 0	15 0	15 0	15 0	15 0	15 0	15 0	15 0	15 0	15 0	15 0	15 0	12
1960	8		8 0	8 0	8 0	8 0	8 0	8 0	8 0	8 0	8 01.	8 0	. 8 0	7
1961	3			3 0	3 0	3 0	3 0	3 0	3 0	3 0	3 0	3 0	3 0	0 3
1962	5				5 0	5 0	5 0	5 0	5 0	5 0	5 0	5 0	5 0	5 0
1963	3					3 0	3	3	3	3 0	3.0	3	3 0	3 0
1964	0						0	0 0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0
1965	11							11 0	11 0	11 0	11 0	11 0	11 0	11
1956	10					<u></u>			10	10	10	10	10	10
1967	12						<u></u>			12 0	12 0	12 0	12	12 0
1968	15					· · · · · · · · · · · ·	·	···			14	14	14	14
1969	12	•										12 0	12 0	12 0
TOTALS:	In Service End of Year	15	23	25	31	34	34	45	55	67	81	93	93	86
	Retired During Year	0	0	0	0	0	0	. 0	0	0	1	0	0	7

FIGURE 19. Actuarial data for B-707s

-

•.

. .

ar 'P: Account for Boeing 707 aircraft (B707)

JRES:	Ret	ired	durin	g cal	endar.	year			-									Average Service Life
'68	'69	'70	'71	'72	'73	•74	'75	'76	' 77	'78	'79	'80	'81	'82	'83	'84	'85	
15 0	15 0	15 0	12 3	9 3	- 6	6 0	5 1	2 3	1	0								14.23
8 0	8 0	. 8 0	7	6 1	5 1	4	3 1	1 2	1 1	0								13.88
3 0	3	3	0															9.5
5 0	5 0	5 0	5 0	5	5	5	5	5 0	5 0	0								15.5
3 0	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	0									13.5
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0				- 0	0		10	0	0	0	<u> </u>	0		0	0	0	0	12.00
0	11	0	11	0	0	10	10	10	10	10	5 5	2	2	2			5	13.80
10	10	10	10	10	10	9	8	6	5	4	3	2	0					11.20
0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	2	1	1	1	1	2					
12	12	12	12	12	12	12	11	11	11	8	6	5	5	2	0			12.42
0	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	3	2		0					
14	14	14	14	14	14	14	14	11	11	11	10	8	8	1	/	6		12.30
<u> </u>	10		-10								<u></u>		-10-	<u> </u>		<u> </u>		12 22
	12	12	0	12	12	12	12	12	10 2	10	10	0	0	9 1	3	5	5	13.33
81	93	93	86	82	78	75	71	61	54	43	34	27	25	18	13	11	0	
1	0	0	7	4	4	3	4	10	7	11	9	7	2	7	5	. 2	11	

JRES: In service at end of indicated calendar year JRES: Retired during calendar year

¥

. -

·

. .



FIGURE 20. Actual and fitted life cycles for B-707s

type curve which best fits the present life cycle experience of an existing technology, it may be possible to estimate the future configuration of the life cycle, and so estimate the time over which capital should be recovered.

For this purposes tables for the values of the differential equations of the life cycle type curves are developed for different values of the time span required for the account to maximize. Using the coefficient estimates of the life cycle type curves, the ordinate values "y" for each curve are calculated for yearly increments corresponding to an unit time span. These values along with the corresponding time units are substituted in the right hand side of the differential equation:

 $y * (1 - y) * (1 - t) * t^{2}$,

where t is the yearly increment related to some value of the time span which is taken as unity. Graphs for each type life cycle rate curve are plotted on a common time scale corresponding to each value of the time span T* required for maximum investment B*.

To apply these curves to actual data, some additional information regarding the data is necessary. The primary data are available from the accounting department, and from the records maintained by the depreciation personnel. The additional information is to be gathered from the construction, marketing, and engineering departments. From the forecasts based on market surveys, economic demand models, and analyses of in-house billing and customer service data, it is possible for the subject matter experts to estimate the potential or the maximum investment that can be made in a particular type of technology or account.

The proportion existing investments can then be computed based on this estimate of maximum investment size. These correspond to the y's defined earlier. By trial and error, using different time spans, these data can be fitted to the type curve graphs. Having identified a type curve, a capital recovery life can be computed from the area under the life cycle.

The above work and efforts may be very much reduced with the use of personal computers and readily available software such as LOTUS-123. The tables can be set up within this spreadsheet program with the maximum time span as a variable which can be changed interactively. The graph representation is possible with the help of the graph subroutine such that it is possible to observe the changing graphs as the time span is changed. Using actual data in a similar manner, it is very convenient to match it to a life cycle type curve.

1. Example

To illustrate the above procedure line data of an existing electronic switching account is considered. The data are presented in Table 7; it extends from 1966 to 1990. For this example it is assumed that the information is available upto 1984, and further the maximum lines herein are to be 9000. Based on this figure the proportion endof-year balances are calculated by dividing each year's balance by this maximum amount. Using these values in the differential rate equation, values for the account life cycle rate curve can be computed for different maximum time spans; in other words, the time axis should be scaled until the values have a close match. Comparing these values to the corresponding maximum time span type life cycle rate curves, one can find that type rate curve which closely fits the account rate curve. In this case it is the J curve at 25 years maximum time span (i.e., $T^* = 25$) (Fig. 21). Converting, the life cycle curve can be determined as shown in the Fig. 22.

Company: H	°В	Account: ESA				
Year :: EOY	Balances	(Number of Li	ines, '00			
1967	8	1979	2465			
1963	12	1 980	3308			
19 6 9	22	1 981	4250			
1970	65	1 982	5173			
1971	141	1983	6314			
1972	310	1984	7293			
1973	480	1 985	7616			
1974	632	1 986	8175			
1975	883	1 987	8612			
1976	1122	1988	8752			
1977	1471	1989	8991			
1978	1 8 70	1 990	9117			

TABLE 7. Line data for ESA account

• • • • •

.



FIGURE 21. Fitting type life cycle rate curves





VII. APPLYING ILC TO CAPITAL RECOVERY

Annual depreciation accrual charge, and the amount of accrued depreciation are of interest to the problems involving depreciation.

A. Life Indicators from Investment Life Cycles

1. Investment Recovery Life

By the very virtue of its measuring quantity, that is, balances, the life cycle presents the boundary beyond which an account does not survive. The area enclosed within the life cycle, therefore, corresponds to the service engendered from those balances. For different time spans T* required for maximum investment B* in an account the service, or the area under the curve, has been computed for each type life cycle curve. This is presented in Table 8. Thus, once the type life cycle curve has been determined the service from this curve can be directly found.

Dividing these services by the total additions that may be made in the account the investment recovery life (IRL) can be determined. The IRL is the weighted average service life of all the vintages in the account; it is equivalent to a broad group whole life. Accounting for salvage, a depreciation rate can be computed from the reciprocal of the IRL. If this rate is used from the first vintage through the complete life cycle, full recovery of the capital in that account can be achieved.

During the analysis of the actual data it was observed that the retirements in the growth section of a life cycle are significantly

			Servia	e from typ	e curves		
T*	H	С	K	0	J	Ť	D
15	12.289	11.081	10.564	9.876	9.632	11.005	11.845
20	16.354	14.759	14.071	13.161	12.838	14.673	15.758
25	20.417	18.435	17.579	16.446	16.046	18.341	19.672
30	24.481	22.112	21.087	19.731	19.254	22.007	23.585
35	28.543	25.788	24.596	23.015	22.461	25.674	27.498
40	32.607	29.465	28.105	26. 301	25.669	29.341	31.411
45	36.667	33.142	31.613	29.585	28.876	33.008	35.324
50	40.733	36.818	35.122	32.869	32.084	36.675	39.237
55	44.796	40.495	38.631	36.155	35.292 [.]	40.342	43.151
60	48.859	44.171	42.139	39.439	38.499	44.009	47.063
55	52.923	47.848	45.647	42.724	41.707	47.676	50.976
7.0	56.986	51.524	49.156	46.009	44.915	51.343	54.889
/5	60.049	55.201	52.664	49.294	48.122	55.010	58.803

TABLE 8. Service from type ILC for $G(t) = t^2$

small. This is again evident from the longer lives indicated for the earlier vintages by the traditional life analysis techniques. Based on this observation it can be assumed that while no retirements occur during the growth section, the retirement rates are common in the decline section and are equal to that of the life cycle. Applying this assumption, the total additions are equal to the maximum investment balance B* in the life cycle. As the type life cycle curves are based on normalized balances, the service indicated from these curves is then the investment recovery life.

2. Remaining Lives over the Life Cycle

From the service depicted by the type life cycle curves, and knowing the service rendered so far by the embedded plant it is possible to calculate the unrealized or future service. Johnson [26] suggests the use of information from accounting, and marketing research departments to estimate the future additions and retirements into an account. Prorating the future retirements from the retirement ratios developed from these estimates, the remaining service and so the remaining life of the embedded plant can be computed.

This approach utilizes the classical retirement rate method used by the traditional life analysis techniques. It is as reliable as the reliability of the estimated forecasts and the confidence thereon. It has been observed that the assumption of retirements being independent of age holds good in the decline section of the life cycle; moreover the retirement rates are not common to all vintages. All this constrains the application of the approach to a small area towards the tail of the life cycle.

The application was tried out on simulated data extending the number of future additions to two and three vintages. From this study it was determined that the retirement ratios of the future additions influence those of the life cycle. As such the calculated remaining life of the embedded plant is longer than actual (i.e., from the future service simulated for the embedded plant only) if there are fewer retirements from the additions, and it is shorter than the actual if more retirements are actually from the future vintages. A simple

counter example is from a simulated account consisting of vintages having identical life characteristics. The assumption of retirements being independent of age cause the embedded plant to survive right upto the end of the life cycle instead of ending at some prior time. This increases the service area, and thereby the remaining life of the embedded plant.

Johnson's approach, as pointed out earlier, has proper theoretical basis; its limitations are the quantity and quality of the data. Moreover, the subjective nature of the data makes it susceptible to criticism. Proportion balances from the type life cycle curves on the other hand are a more objective source of input. However, while the former approach requires information regarding additions and retirements, the type life cycle curves provide only the proportion balances, the resultant of the additions and retirements.

The unrealized service depicted by the selected type life cycle curve can be prorated among the survivors of the vintages constituting the embedded balance. Adding this to the corresponding realized lives of the present vintages, the average service lives for the vintages can be determined. Alternately, as total service is the sum of the realized service and the unrealized service, the weighted average remaining life of the embedded plant can be found by subtracting the weighted average realized life from the investment recovery life. The derivation of this relation is explained in the following section.

B. Accrued Depreciation

A standard practice for checking life estimation is through depreciation reserve. If the probable average service life (PASL) and net salvage of each vintage in a placement band are estimated correctly, then with the full recovery of the original cost, less net salvage, over the years the dollars of that band are in service the depreciation reserve is zero at the end of the life span of that placement band. Similarly depreciation reserve for an account should be zero at the end of the life cycle of the account.

Tsai [45] studied the depreciation reserve requirements reflecting the impact of various related characteristics in the life cycles. He investigated four life characteristics (life cycle shape, type survivor curve, vintage average service life, and range of annual additions), singly and in combination for technological change effects, for their impact on the life cycle reserve requirements. The research was based on simulated life cycles generated from assumed additions and growth rates with known life characteristics. The results are in agreement to the theoretical basis of the assumptions originating in earlier literature [48].

The assumptions regarding the additions and their growth rates add further constraints to the data generated by life cycle curves. The information normally available from the type life cycle curves is the balance ratios with respect to the maximum investment in an account. Knowledge regarding any future activities such as additions, retirements, and transfers is at best an educated estimate within the

constrains of forecasted balances from the type life cycle curves. To reduce such complications, it is convenient to develop relations with historical data, and minimal forecasted parameters.

Accrued depreciation, which unlike the depreciation reserve, does not contain retirements and salvage, and is the summation of the depreciation accruals for the preceding years. Thus by the closure of an account, accrued depreciation will amount to the depreciable base while depreciation reserve will be zero. Total accrued depreciation at any point in time is that amount which when combined with expected future annual accruals equals the depreciable base, i.e., the sum of all additions less future net salvage.

where

z ΣDi = accumulated depreciation at the end of year z 1 n ΣDi = sum of future depreciation charges z+1 z ΣΑί = total additions upto year z 1 n ΣAi = sum of future additions z+1 $\Sigma A_i(s_a)$ = expected net salvage 1 sa = average net salvage ratio.

Rearranging the terms,

$$\begin{array}{c} z \\ \Sigma \\ D_{i} = (1 - s_{p}) \\ 1 \end{array} \begin{array}{c} z \\ \Sigma \\ A_{i} + (1 - s_{f}) \\ 1 \end{array} \begin{array}{c} n \\ \Sigma \\ A_{i} - d \\ z+1 \end{array} \begin{array}{c} sum \ of \ future \\ average \ plant \\ balances \end{array} \right\}$$

where $d = (1 - s_a)/IRL$ is the depreciation rate

s_p = past net salvage ratio

s_f = future net salvage ratio.

Therefore we have

$$z = (1 - s_p) \sum_{i=1}^{z} A_i - d \begin{cases} \text{future service} \\ \text{from present} \\ \text{additions} \end{cases}$$

$$+ (1 - s_f) \sum_{i=1}^{z} A_i - d \begin{cases} \text{future service} \\ \text{from future} \\ \text{additions} \end{cases}$$

For correctly estimated depreciation rate and net salvage,

 $\begin{array}{ccc} n & \text{future service} \\ (1 - s_f) \sum A_i - d & \text{from future} \\ z+1 & \text{additions} \end{array} \right\} = 0.$

Thus

$$\begin{array}{c} z & z & \text{future service} \\ \Sigma D_i = (1 - s_p) \sum A_i - ((1 - s_a)/\text{IRL}) \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \text{from present} \\ \text{additions} \end{array} \right\} \\ 1 & 1 & \end{array}$$

Multiplying the last term on the right hand side by $\frac{z}{1}$

one gets

$$\sum_{i}^{z} D_{i} = \sum_{i}^{z} A \left\{ (1 - s_{p}) - \left\{ \frac{1 - s_{a}}{IRL} \right\} \right\}$$
 (5)

$$\sum_{i}^{z} D_{i} = \sum_{i}^{z} A \left\{ (1 - s_{p}) - \left\{ \frac{1 - s_{a}}{IRL} \right\} \right\}$$
 (5)

$$\frac{z}{\sum} D_{i} = d \sum_{1}^{z} B_{i} \text{ where } B_{i} \text{ is end of year balance.}$$

$$\frac{z}{\sum} B_{i} \frac{1}{\frac{1}{z} - \frac{1}{z} - \frac{1}{z} \frac{1}{(1 - s_{a})}} \left\{ (1 - s_{p}) - \frac{1 - s_{a}}{1} WARmL \right\}$$
Or

WAREL = $(IRL/(1 - s_a)) \{ (1 - s_p) - ((1 - s_a)/IRL) WARmL \}$

where WAReL = weighted average realized life, and

WARmL = weighted average remaining life.

If $s_a = s_p = 0$ then,

WAREL = IRL - WARML or WARML = IRL - WAREL (6)

This WARmL is that for the embedded plant, and it is based on known facts such as WAReL and one estimated parameter, IRL. Substituting the value of WARmL in Eq. (5) at different points in time, one can calculate the required accumulated depreciation upto those points in time.

Eq. (5) indicates that the required accumulated depreciation for embedded plant in an account at the end of year z is dependent on:

- the total amount of investment or additions made into the account upto year z,
- the past net salvage ratio correctly accounted at the end of year z,
- 3. the estimated average net salvage ratio for the entire span

of the account,

- the weighted average remaining life of the embedded plant based on
- 5. the IRL.

Table 9 and Fig. 23 illustrate the application of equations (5) and (6) to a simulated life cycle. The assumption of additions only in the growth section with zero retirements until the maximum investment is applied as the only information available is the end of year balance ratios.

C. Investment Life Cycles and Depreciation

It has been pointed out earlier that huge depreciation reserve deficits exist in some categories of property accounts. These deficits have been calculated using traditional methods of life analysis with the hindsight of more retirement experience from those accounts. Also from the life analysis results presented in Chapter IV, one can see how these deficits could have risen:

- Initial low depreciation rates due to long lives indicated by low retirement experience.
- Earlier vintages finally experiencing lower lives than those indicated earlier due to increased retirements.
- Lives of newer vintages inherently smaller than those of earlier vintages.

This points out that even if life analysis, and rate determination are conducted dynamically, timely recovery of capital may not be possible.

0	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
•	0.000000	12.739300	0.000000	0.000000	0.00000
	0.000083	12.729420	0.000006	0.000006	0.000006
	0.002437	12.704570	0.000183	0.000177	0.000183
	0.025272	12.639500	0.002022	0.001839	0.002022
	0.110286	12.487280	0.010050	0.008027	0.010050
0.25	0.244390	12.174300	0.027837	0.017787	0.027837
	0.353148	11.656270	0.053541	0.025703	0.053541
	0.408820	10.939930	0.083296	0.029755	0.083296
	0.427309	10.061050	0.114398	0.031101	0.114398
	0.432397	9.104355	0.145869	0.031471	0.145869
0.5	0.444462	8.230156	0.178219	0.032349	0.178219
	0.479024	7.627647	0.213084	0.034865	0.213084
	0.546245	7.379748	0.252842	0.039757	0.252842
	0.646552	7.366374	0.299901	0.047058	0.299901
	0.762824	7.337760	0.355422	0.055521	0.355422
0.75	0.864570	7.091114	0.418349	0.062926	0.418349
	0.931774	6.570612	0.486167	. 0.067818	0.486167
	0.967129	5.832678	0.556558	0.070391	0.556558
	0.983154	4.961553	0.628116	0.071557	0.628116
	0.989624	4.018937	0.700145	0.072028	0.700145
l	0.991184	3.034241	0.772287	0.072142	0.772287
	0.987942	2.037512	0.844193	0.071906	0.844193
	0.968697	1.060200	0.914699	0.070505	0.914699
	0.832532	0.220264	0.975294	0.060594	0.975294
	0.214309	0.004048	0.990892	0.015598	0.990892
1.25	0.004000	0.000012	0.991183	0.000291	0.991183
	0.000012	0.000000	0.991184	0.00000	0.991184
•	0.000000	3.1E-13	0.991184	0.00000	0.991184

TABLE 9. Required accumulated depreciation^a



•

FIGURE 23. Required accumulated depreciation

Again, as whole life technique requires that the estimated life be applied to a vintage from its beginning, the changing life characteristics as retirement experience increases does cause concern when computing depreciation charges using whole life procedures.

There comes a time when one has to amortize the deficit, and/or change over to remaining life procedure. Both these alternatives require the estimation of the future service expected from the investment or account. Life cycle analysis can provide a helping hand in that area.

At least three scenarios can be drawn to apply investment life cycles to the calculation of depreciation, and the process of capital recovery.

- An IRL be estimated at the very beginning of the account, and applied from the start for estimating proper depreciation rates. The estimated investment life cycle should be adhered to within practical limits, and any deviation from this life cycle happening in reality may be separately accounted as the situation arose.
- 2. At any point in the experience of an account, an estimated life cycle will set the limits to service expected from the account. At this time, combining the future expected service with the realized service of each existing vintage, one can calculate a corrected service life for each embedded placement, and compute depreciation using whole life procedure to ensure complete recovery of capital by the end
of the life cycle.

3. A remaining life for embedded plant can be determined by estimating a life cycle at that point in the experience of the account. Future depreciation charges can be computed using remaining life procedure.

A convenient way of checking proper depreciation allocation is through accumulated depreciation. Based on an IRL, estimated by any means, it is possible to determine the required accumulated depreciation for the embedded investment. Should this figure not tally with actual accumulated depreciation, corrective action is necessary.

VIII. SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Through life analysis of actual data it has been observed that service life indicators suddenly reduce when high retirement rates set in. Technological advancements, obsolescence, and competition are some of the reasons that cause the increase in the retirement rates. When these reasons are not properly incorporated into the life estimation process, timely recovery of capital is not possible; this is evident from the huge depreciation reserve deficit experienced by some telephone companies in the eighties.

Objective analysis of these causes of retirement is a formidable task. However, they can be indirectly included by augmenting the age dependent traditional life analysis process with some type of time related procedure. The product life cycle is one such concept that can be used profitably.

It has been shown in this study that the product life cycle concept, commonly used in marketing management, can be adopted to be applied in the process of capital recovery. From the concept of investment life cycle developed to suit the depreciation parlance an investment recovery life (IRL) has been defined. Investment recovery life from life cycle analysis is the weighted average of service lives of all the vintages in an account developed from traditional life analysis. Based on this relation shorter service lives can be argued for the initial vintages even though traditional life analysis techniques may portray longer lives at that time.

From the argument that the product life cycle concept has its roots in the diffusion theory, a generalized model for the investment life cycle has been developed. Although each product has its unique life cycle configuration, the model developed here can be modified to describe life cycles of different investments. Based on this model, and from its application to several data sets, type life cycle curves have been developed (a concept similar to Iowa type survivor curves). A routine for applying these type life cycle curves to existing investment is proposed and demonstrated. An IRL can be derived from this application. When a depreciation rate computed from this IRL is applied to an account from its beginning complete recovery of the capital invested in that account can be accomplished.

¢

The investment life cycle approach can be seen to be a much wider application of the broad group whole life system of depreciation. The width of the broad group extends across the whole span of the account. Although this tends to hide many details of vintage analysis, the life cycle approach gives the first approximation and so sets the limits within which timely recovery of capital is possible. With the projected life cycle and IRL derived from type life cycle curves, the remaining life and required accumulated depreciation of embedded plant can be determined. The formulae for remaining life, and accumulated depreciation have been derived, and their application has been illustrated.

This study has presented product life cycle as a versatile conceptual tool, although it may appear to be superficial and/or

simplistic. The difficulty lies in the successful presentation of a model common for all products or investments. The model presented herein can be modified to suit different situations. The type curves generated from this model represent a range of property affected by a certain degree of technological obsolescence, and competition. Different types of properties under varying conditions of obsolescence, and competition need to be analyzed to get a complete picture of the life cycle. Additional information from the analyses of such data would weave the intricacy of additions and retirements internal to the outer coat of investment life cycle.

IX. REFERENCES

1. Abell, D. F. Defining the Business: The Starting Point of Strategic Planning. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall, 1980.

2. Balachandran, V., and Jain, S. A Predictive Model for Monitoring Product Life Cycle. <u>In</u> Relevance in Marketing/Marketing in Motion. F. Allvine, ed. Chicago: American Marketing Association, 1972.

3. Bass, F. M. A New Product Growth Model for Consumer Durables. Management Science 15, No. 5 (1969): 215-227.

4. Blackman, A. W., Jr. A Mathematical Model for Trend Forecasts. Technological Forecasting and Social Change 3 (1972): 441-452.

5. Box, G. E. P., Hunter, W. G., and Hunter, J. S. Statistics for Experimenters: An Introduction to Design, Data Analysis, and Model Building. New York: John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 1978.

6. Brockhoff, K. A Test for the Product Life Cycle. Econometrica 35 (July-Oct. 1967): 472-484.

7. Brown, L. A., and Cox, K. R. Empirical Regularities in the Diffusion of Innovations. Annals of Association of American Geographers 61, No. 3 (Sept. 1971): 551-559.

8. Buzzel, R., Cook, V., Peterson, J., and Hase, P. Product Life Cycles. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Marketing Science Institute, Nov. 1969.

9. Clark, J. R. A Depreciation Method with Realistic Results. Telephony 205 (Sept. 12, 1983): 250-254.

10. Cooke, E., and Edmondson, B. Computer Aided Product Life Cycle Forecasts for New Product Investment Decisions. <u>In</u> Increasing Marketing Productivity and Conceptual and Methodological Foundations of Marketing. T. Greer, ed. Chicago: American Marketing Association, 1973.

11. Cox, W. E. Product Life Cycles as Marketing Models. The Journal of Business, University of Chicago 40, No. 4 (Oct. 1967): 375-384.

12. Day, G. S. The Product Life Cycle: Analysis and Applications Issues. Journal of Marketing 45 (Fall, 1981): 60-67.

13. Dean, J. Pricing Policies for New Products. Harvard Business Review 28 (Nov.-Dec. 1950): 45-53.

14. Dhalla, N., and Yuseph, S. Forget the Product Life Cycle Concept!

Harvard Business Review 54 (Jan.-Feb. 1976): 102-112.

15. Doyle, P. The Realities of Product Life Cycle. Quarterly Review of Marketing 1, No. 4 (Summer 1976): 1-6.

95

16. Enis, B., LaGarce, R., and Prell, A. Extending the Product Life Cycle. Business Horizons 20 (June 1977): 46-56.

17. FCC: Property Depreciation. 83 FCC 2d 267, 1980. (Also known as Docket 20188).

18. Fitch, W. C., and Wolf, F. K. Conceptual Framework for Forecasting the Useful Life of Industrial Property. Proceedings of the Iowa State Regulatory Conference, Ames, Iowa, 1984.

19. Forrester, J. W. Industrial Dynamics. Harvard Business Review 36 (July-Aug. 1958): 37-66.

20. Fourt, L. A., and Woodlock, J. W. Early Prediction of Market Success for New Grocery Products. Journal of Marketing 25 (Oct. 1960): 31-38.

21a. Fox, H. W. Product Life Cycle - An Aid to Financial Administration. Financial Executive 41 (April 1973): 28-34.

21b. Gold, H. The \$26 Billion Solution. Forbes 136 (July 29, 1985): 40-41.

22. Griliches, Z. Hybrid Corn: An Exploration in Economics of Technological Change. Econometrica 25, No. 4 (Oct. 1957): 501-522.

23. Harrell, S. G., and Taylor, E. D. Modeling the Product Life Cycle for Consumer Durables. Journal of Marketing 45 (Fall 1981): 68-75.

24. Hayes, R. H., and Wheelwright, S. C. Link Manufacturing Process and Product Life Cycles. Harvard Business Review 57 (Jan.-Feb. 1979): 133-140.

25. Hofer, C. W. Toward a Contingency Theory of Business Strategy. Academy of Management Journal 18 (Dec. 1975): 784-810.

26. Johnson, E. R. How to Capture Embedded CPE Equipment Investment. Telephony 207 (Oct. 1, 1984): 140-150.

27. Levitt, T. Exploit the Product Life Cycle. Harvard Business Review 43 (Nov.-Dec. 1965): 81-94.

28. Mahajan, V. and Peterson, R. A. Models for Innovation Diffusion. Sage University Paper Series on Quantitative Applications in the Social Sciences, 07-048. Beverly Hills: Sage Publications, 1985. 29. Mahajan, V., Peterson, R. A., Jain, A. K., and Malhotra, N. A New Product Growth Model with a Dynamic Market Potential. Long Range Planning 12 (Aug. 1979): 51-58.

30. Mahajan, V, and Schoeman, M. E. F. Generalized Model for the Time Pattern of the Diffusion Process. IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management EM-24, No. 1 (Feb. 1977): 12-18.

31. Marston, A., Winfrey, R., and Hempstead, J. C. Engineering Valuation and Depreciation. Ames, Iowa: Iowa State University Press, 1953.

32. Methods of Estimating Utility Plant Life. A Report of the Engineering Subcommittee of the Depreciation Accounting Committee, Edison Electric Institute, No. 51-23. New York: Edison Electric Institute, 1952.

33. Mills, F. C. Statistical Methods. New York: Henry Holt and Co., 1955.

34. Neidell, L. A. Don't Forget the Product Life Cycle for Strategic Planning. Business 33 (Apr.-June 1983): 30-35.

35. Ocker, A. C. Life Cycle Approach to Depreciation Analysis. Proceedings of the Iowa State Regulatory Conference, Ames, Iowa, 1983.

36. Polli, R., and Cook, V. Validity of the Product Life Cycle. The Journal of Business, University of Chicago 42, No. 4 (Oct. 1969): 385-400.

37. Qualls, W., Olshavsky, R., and Micheals, R. Shortening of the PLC - An Empirical Test. Journal of Marketing 45 (1981): 76-80.

38. Rink, D. R., and Swan, J. E. Product Life Cycle Research: A Literature Review. Journal of Business Research 7, No. 3 (1979): 219-242.

39. Rogers, E. The Diffusion of Innovations. New York: The Free Press, 1962.

40. Rogers, E. M., and Shoemaker, F. F. Communications of Innovations: A Crosscultural Approach. New York: The Free Press, 1971.

41. Scheuing, E. E. The Product Life Cycle as an Aid to Strategy Decisions. Management International Review 9 (1969): 111-124.

42. Smith, W. C. Product Life Cycle Strategy: How to Stay on the

Growth Curve. Management Review 69 (Jan. 1980): 8-13.

43. Tellis, G. J., and Crawford, M. An Evolutionary Approach to Product Growth Theory. Journal of Marketing 45 (1981): 125-132.

44. Theitart, R. A., and Vivas, R. An Empirical Investigation of Success Strategies for Business Along the Product Life Cycle. Management Science 30, No. 12 (Dec. 1984): 1405-1423.

45. Tsai, W. The Impacts of Property Life Cycles on Depreciation Requirements. Unpublished Masters Thesis. Iowa State University of Science and Technology, Ames, Iowa, 1986.

46. Walker, W. B. Industrial Innovation and International Trading Performance. Greenwich, Connecticut: Jai Press Inc., 1979.

47. Wasson, C. R. Dynamic Competitive Strategy and Product Life Cycles. 3rd ed. Austin, TX: Austin Press, 1978.

48. Winfrey, R. Depreciation of Group Properties. Ames, Iowa: ISU Engineering Research Institute Bulletin 155, June 1942.

49. Winfrey, R. Statistical Analyses of Industrial Property Retirements. Ames, Iowa: ISU Engineering Research Institute Bulletin 125, April 1967.

50. Wolf, F. K. Forecasting Forces of Mortality. Proceedings of the Iowa State Regulatory Conference, Ames, Iowa, 1985.

X. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I wish to express my appreciation for the freedom of exploration, the wisdom that constrained me from "wandering off", the technical advice, and administrative considerations given by Professor Harold Cowles. He has been my Guru in the very classical sense of the term.

The assistance of Professor Stephen Vardeman, in explaining certain statistical problems, is gratefully acknowledged. Thanks are due to Professor Jean Adams, Professor Gerald Smith, and Professor Tom Barta, my committee members, for their encouragement, and direction. I am grateful to Professor Keith McRoberts, Chairman of the Department of Industrial Engineering, for granting the computer time, administrative assistance, and his support.

With a deep sense of gratitude, a special thanks goes to Mr. LeRoy Murphy of L. J. Murphy Associates. He formulated the idea for this research, and was instrumental in funding the project. The constant support, encouragement, and efficient direction of the work on behalf of the sponsors by Ms. Sharon Brant of Ameritech Services is gratefully appreciated. I wish to thank Mr. Tom Nousaine of Ameritech service, and Mr. George Wolanik and Ms. Judy Moen of Illinois Bell for their patience, and interest during my data collection in Chicago.

I gratefully acknowledge the financial assistance, and data contributions from the following companies: Ameritech, Bellcore, NYNEX, Cincinnatti Bell, Southwestern Bell, Mountain Bell, Pacific Bell, GTE, Bellsouth, New York Tel., New England Tel., Southern Bell, and South Central Bell.

To all my friends, and colleagues, without whose understanding, succor, and encouragement, my stay here would have been frustrating, thank you all!

And finally, I am greatly indebted to my parents, without whose affection, support, faith, and sacrifice, I could not have completed this graduate program. XI. APPENDIX. SAMPLE RESULTS OF MORTALITY ANALYSIS OVER LIFE CYCLES

•

.

.

÷

Vintage	Iowa type curve	ASL (years)
	Company: CI Account: XBAR	
1940	R 2	97.7
1941	S 0.5	88.8
1942	R 3	61.3
1943		
1944		
1945	S 6	38.8
1946	S 6	35.0
1947	S 6	34.0
1948	S 5	33.9
1949	R 4	31.3
1950	R 2.5	40,5
1951	L 5	29.1
1952	R 1.5	33.8
1953	S 5	28.0
1954	L 4	28.6
1955	L 3	35.1
1956	L 0	44.0
1957	L 4	25.3
1958	L 4	24.1
1959	R 3	25.1
1960	S 5	20.5
1961	R 3	23.6
1962	R 2.5	23.9
1963	S 3	21.6
1964	S 2	22.6
1965	S 3	18.2
1966	S 1.5	24.7
1967	L 3	15.6
1968	L 4	13.7
1969	L 4	13.9
1970	L 3	14.1
1971	S 1.5	16.5
1972	S 1.5	13.6
1973	S L	13.0
1974		10.8
107C		TO'8
1077		ð.ð 1/ 0
1977	K U.J	
1978		
19/9	K U.J	9.0

TABLE 10. Mortality analysis A

^a Insufficient Data.

Vintage	Iowa type curve	ASL (years)
	Company: CI	
	Account. DAD	
1937		
1938	R 1.5	81.8
1939	LO	34.9
1940	R 0.5	37.9
1941	LO	32.7
1942	L 0.5	36.2
1943	S 6	38.0
1944	R 1	40.8
1945	R 0.5	39.3
1946	S 6	30.1
1947	R 2	26.5
1948	R 5	29.5
1949	R 1.5	27.0
1950	L l	19.1
1951	R 3	26.7
1952	R 3	25.2
1953	R 2	20.8
1954	R 5	24.6
1955	S 4	21.3
1956	L 4	22.1
1957	L 2	19.9
1958	L 5	17.7
1959	L 2	18,8
1960	S 2	17.2
1961	L 1.5	16.5
1962	R 2.5	17.2
1963	S 2	14.0
1964	S 1.5	14.0
1965	L 1.5	15.1
1966	R 2.5	18.9
1967	L 1	12.0
1968	S 2	11.8
1969	L 5	12.4
1970	S 0	8.6
1971	L 0.5	9.6
1972	R 3	9.0
1973	L 4	9.1
1974	L 1.5	9.7
1975	S 6	6.0
1976	L 2	6.7

TABLE 11. Mortality analysis B

.

.

Iowa type curve	ASL (years)
Company: CI Account: SXS	**************************************
L 3	5.5
L 4	3.6
L 0.5	4.2
L l	3.9
	Iowa type curve Company: CI Account: SXS L 3 L 4 L 0.5 L 1

TABLE	11.	Continued
-------	-----	-----------

Vintage	Iowa type curve	ASL (years)
	Company: ID Account: XBAR	
1937	S 6	42.2
1938	L 5	39.8
1939	S 3	60.2
1940	R 0.5	74.7
1941	R 1.5	56.0
1942	R 3	41.6
1943	S 6	38.1
1944	R 1	38.6
1945	R 0.5	49.4
1946	R 5	34.6
1947	R 4	33.2
1948	R 3	31.5
1949	R 4	32.8
1950	R 3	31.3
1951	R 4	27.9
1952	F 4	. 30.3
1953	R 2.5	32.6
1954	R 4	26.1
1955	R 4	27.2
1956	R 5	25.0
1957	L 5	25.1
1958	L 3	26.4
1959	S 2	29.8
1960	L 3	25.8
1961	L 3	21.7
1962	L 4	18.7
1963	R 4	18.7
1964	L 3	19.6
1965	R 3	17.2
1966	R 3	17.2
1967	L 3	16.8
1968	R 3	14.6
1969	R 3	13.5
1970	S 1.5	12.8
1971	S 2	11.2
1972	L 2	11.8
1973	R 3	10.4
1974	S 2	8.9
1975	L 1.5	10.6
1976	Sl	8

•

TABLE 12. Mortality analysis C

.

-

-

Vintage	Iowa type curve	ASL (years)
	Company: ID Account: XBAR	
1977	R 2	8.2
1978	L 1	8
1979	L 1.5	7
1980	R 2.5	4.5
1981	L 2	4.1

TABLE	12.	Continued

R 2 L 1 L 1.5 R 2.5 L 2

٠

.

.

- . ..

.

• •

Vintage	Iowa type curve	ASL (years)
	Company: IB	
	Account: SXS CDO	
1937	R 2	25.6
1938	S 1	26.1
1939	S 1	24.9
1940	R 3	29.8
1941	Rì	29.0
1942	S 0	29.0
1943	RÎ	26.6
1944	R 3	28.4
1945	R 1.5	25.9
1946	S 0	24.1
1947	R 1	23.5
1948	R 2	25.3
1949	R 1	26.6
1950	RL	26.4
1951	S5	18.8
1952	R 1.5	24.9
1953	R 1	23.4
1954	R 2	25.2
1955	K 2	22.1
1957		23.7
1058	K 1.J D 1 5	19.1
1930	K 1.J D 2	25.0
. 1960	T 1 5	20.7
1961	L 1.5	20.8
1962	B 1	17.4
1963	T. 1.5	18.3
1964	L 2	14.8
1965		14.5
1966	L 1.5	17.3
1967	L 1	16.3
1968	L 3	11.6
1969	L O	13.1
1970	LO	12.7
1971	L 0	9.9
1972	L O	7.7
1973	L 1.5	10.2
1974	LO	7.7
1975	L 1	7.2
1976	LO	6.9

TABLE 13. Mortality analysis D

.

Vintage	Iowa type curve	ASL (years)
	Company: IB Account: SXS CDO	
1977	R 0.5	7.2
1978	R 0.5	8.9
1979	s 5	9.4
1980	R 0.5	12.7

.

Vintage	Iowa type curve	ASL (ye a rs)
	Company IB Account: LARSXS	
1931	S 3	45.3
1932	S 1.5	60.3
1933	S 6	42.9
1934	S 5	48.3
1935	S 6	39.5
1936	S 0	78.4
1937	R 5	37.7
1938	L 5	37.8
1939	L 2	80.8
1940	S 6	34.4
1941	S 1.5	35.1
1942	R 4	32.0
1943		34.9
1944	K 4 T 5	30.9
10/6		30.0
1940	D 3	27.9
1948	R J C	20.4
1949	R 7 5	23.1
1950	R 2.5	20.8
1951	R 4	23.0
1952	R 2.5	20.6
1953	R 3	20.3
1954	R 3	19.8
1955	R 3	19.9
1956	R 2	17.4
1957	R 3	16.7
1958	R 1.5	16.4
1959	R 1.5	14.3
1960	R 3	13.9
1961	L 3	14.5
1962	R 4	13.4
1963	S 1.5	12.7
1964	R 2.5	10.6
1965 1966	R 3	10.1
1967	د <u>ا</u>	9.3
1068 1907	5 Z C 1 S	8.2
1969	5 ±.J c 1 5	ð.4 6 /
1970	5 L.J T 1 5	0. 4 ∠ 2
1071	ت. ۲ ت ۲ J C	0. <u>~</u> / 0

.

.

.

Vintage	Iowa type curve	ASL (years)
	Company: IB Account: LARSXS	
1972	L 1	4.8
1973	R 1	3.5
1974	LO	3.7
1975	LO	4.5
1976	L 1	3.8
1977	LO	3.5
1978	S O	2.9
1979	S 4	1.2
1980	S - .5	1.2

TABLE :	14.	Continued
---------	-----	-----------